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Under our seventh Medium-Term Management Plan, which ended in fiscal 2011, 
our goal was to build a dominant market share in Asia, the world’s largest market 
for nonwoven fabric and absorbent material products. We see this as a key step 
in capturing the leading share in the global market. Specifically, we expanded our 
presence in Asian markets and reinforced our product supply framework. During 
the period of the plan, we clearly enhanced Unicharm’s position in Asia, and this 
supported strong growth in consolidated earnings.

[  
Groupwide earnings driven by growth in overseas business 
centered on Asia ]	

Earnings in Asia have increased sharply over the past three years. In the plan’s final year, net 
sales were 1.6-times the level in fiscal 2008 and operating income was 2.1-times higher. 
Overseas sales now account for a record 42.4% of consolidated net sales, compared with 
36.9% in fiscal 2008. As a result of this sales growth, we reported record sales and 
operating income for the fourth consecutive fiscal year in fiscal 2011, with consolidated net 
sales totaling ¥376.9 billion and operating income coming in at ¥46.6 billion.   

[  
Earnings contribution from growth in domestic health care  
and pet care businesses ]	

In Japan, the baby care business and feminine care business have been affected by the 
falling birthrate, but the health care business and pet care business have continued to grow 
as the population ages. Based on the assumption that Japanese society will continue to 
age, we moved rapidly into new business fields with growth potential. This has supported 
business expansion in Japan, despite the mature market. 

[  
Establishing a business model targeting middle-class 
consumers in growth markets ]	

In 2007 in Indonesia, we launched our first ever disposable diaper aimed at middle-class 
consumers. Sales subsequently expanded strongly, helping us to secure the dominant share 
in the Indonesia market. In 2010, we also launched disposable diapers for the middle-class 
market in China, where growth is very strong. Unicharm has leveraged its strengths in the 
premium segment, but is now seeing solid gains in market share in the economy segment 
as well.

Results of Seventh Medium-Term Management Plan

Growth in consolidated earnings  
driven by business expansion in Asia
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Supported by sustained 
sales growth in Asia, net 
sales in �scal 2011 reached 
¥376.9 billion and the 
overseas sales ratio 
increased to 42.4%. Both 
were new records for 
Unicharm. 

Seventh Medium-Term 
Management Plan
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Sales growth in Asia led 
to an improvement in 
pro�tability, with the 
operating income to net 
sales ratio reaching 15.5%.

Seventh Medium-Term 
Management Plan

45.1
46.6

2008/32007/32006/3 2009/3 2010/3 2011/3

28.5 29.9
33.7 34.9

Operating Income (¥ billion)

In �scal 2011, operating 
income reached a new 
record high of ¥46.6 billion 
on expansion in sales 
areas and improvements 
in productivity. 

Seventh Medium-Term 
Management Plan
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Russia factory
Operational from August 2010

India factory
Operational from October 2010

Indonesia factory
Operational from May 2010

U.S. factory
Operational from August 2010

China factory (Tianjin)
Start up scheduled for 2012

South Korea factory
Operational from December 2010

Japan

Taiwan
Egypt factory
Start up scheduled for 2012

Thailand

Saudi Arabia

The Netherlands

China (Shanghai)

New production sites

Australia
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Demand for sanitary napkins and disposable 
diapers for babies is growing in emerging 
markets worldwide in Asia, the Middle East 
and North Africa (MENA), Eastern Europe, 
and South America. Unicharm is reinforcing 
its production framework around the world to 
ensure it is well positioned to tap into these 
market growth opportunities.

Results of Seventh Medium-Term Management Plan

Reinforcing our production framework  
in areas of demand growth worldwide

Unicharm’s Production Sites
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Source: Unicharm Corporation

Projected Market Size

ClickFor more details about overseas operations, please click here.

http://www.unicharm.co.jp/english/about/overseas-deployment/index.html
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Millions of yen 
(Except per share figures)

Thousands of  
U.S. dollars 
(Except per 

share figures) 
(Note 1)

2011/3 2010/3 2009/3 2011/3

FOR THE FISCAL PERIOD:
Net sales ¥376,948 ¥356,825 ¥347,850 $4,541,540 

Operating income 46,561 45,066 34,884 560,981 

Net income 33,560 24,464 17,128 404,343 

Capital expenditures 27,570 24,750 14,574 332,169 

Depreciation and amortization 14,620 16,393 17,101 176,147 

Research and development costs 4,954 4,558 4,459 59,685 

AT FISCAL YEAR-END:

Total assets ¥444,016 ¥307,773 ¥278,314 $5,349,585 

Property, plant and equipment 98,390 95,357 84,248 1,185,421 

Long-term debt—less current maturities 47,354 944 1,306 570,533 

Net assets 219,633 207,413 185,591 2,646,172 

Equity ratio 45.5% 59.7% 60.2% –

PER SHARE DATA (¥/$) (Note 2) :

Net income ¥178.11 ¥128.56 ¥89.44 $2.15 

Cash dividends applicable to the year 28.00 23.33 18.00 0.34 

Note	1. 	U.S. dollar amounts are translated from yen at the rate of ¥83=U.S.$1, the approximate rate on the Tokyo Foreign Exchange Market on March 31, 2011.	
	 2.	A 1-to-3 stock split was conducted on October 1, 2010. Per-share figures were retroactively adjusted to reflect this stock split.			 
	

Consolidated Financial Highlights
Unicharm Corporation and Subsidiaries
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Overview of Fiscal 2011

1.		 Merger carried out in the pet care business, which offers good prospects for long-term growth

2.		 New three-year Medium-Term Management Plan formulated; Unicharm Group commits to goal 
		 of accelerating sales growth

3.		 New manufacturing sites established overseas to support sustained growth 

4.		 Strengthening of head office functions in the key Chinese market started 

5.		 Operating income in overseas markets exceeds ¥20 billion for the first time

6.		 Consolidated earnings driven by continued strong sales growth in Asia

7.		 Record sales and operating income for the fourth straight year

8.		 Supply chains rapidly restored after the Great East Japan Earthquake

ClickFor more details about financial data, please click here.

http://www.unicharm.co.jp/english/ir/financial/index.html
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    Also, in September 2010, we carried out a merger in the pet care business, which we 
think offers good prospects for long-term growth. We believe the global pet care market is 
very promising, with our projections showing it will expand to be worth around ¥14 trillion in 
retail sales by 2020. We will work to grow the pet care business into another key source of 
earnings to match the personal care business. 
 

Q2.	 Please give us a summary of the eighth Medium-Term Management Plan and 
how it fits into your long-term vision for Unicharm.

When Unicharm marked its 50th anniversary in February 2011, all our employees committed 
to the goal of ensuring Unicharm stayed in business for at least another 50 years. Based on 
market projections for the first ten of those years, taking us through to 2020, we have clearly 
defined the kind of company we want Unicharm to become over the next decade. The 
business fields where Unicharm is active have considerable growth potential. We forecast 
that the total market for our products in 2020 will expand to ¥28 trillion, or 2.4 times larger 
than in 2008. Our goal is to increase market share in Asia and Middle East-North Africa 
(MENA) as a key step in capturing the leading share in the global market by 2020. With our 
eighth Medium-Term Management Plan, which is the first three-year plan on the road to this 
objective, we will implement a number of initiatives to achieve net sales of ¥570 billion and 
operating income of ¥85 billion by fiscal 2014. Specifically, we will develop our presence in 
emerging markets around the world by actively targeting the growing middle class, backed 
up by low-cost operating bases. We also plan to contribute to emerging needs for safe and 
hygienic lifestyles on the back of rising living standards. And with women playing a greater 
role in societies worldwide, our basic strategy will be to respond to needs for highly 
functional and diverse products that transcend differences in culture and customs. 

Interview with the President

Global markets in Unicharm’s business fields are projected to 
grow strongly. We plan to push ahead with the globalization 
of our business to drive sustained growth. 

Q1.		 Please give us an overview of Unicharm’s performance in fiscal 2011. 

In fiscal 2011, ended March 31, 2011, Unicharm reported net sales of ¥376.9 billion and 
operating income of ¥46.6 billion, record-high figures for the fourth consecutive fiscal year. 
Net sales rose for the ninth consecutive fiscal year. Consolidated earnings were driven by 
growth in China, Indonesia and other Asian markets that we have moved into. Our business 
in China saw particularly strong growth, with net sales rising 30% year on year and operating 
income increasing 49%. As a result, overseas sales accounted for a record 42.4% of 
consolidated net sales, and operating income generated by overseas operations exceeded 
¥20 billion for the first time. 

    Also, dur ing the year under review, we 
continued to reinforce our production framework 
worldwide to support sustained growth. In India, 
Indonesia, South Korea, Russia, and the United 
States, where we expect demand to rise for 
products such as sanitary products, disposable 
diapers for babies, and adult disposable diapers, 
we set up new factories or upgraded existing ones. 
In 2012, we plan to start up a new factory in Tianjin, 
giving us a total of four production sites in China. 

Takahisa Takahara

President and CEO

Global Market Expansion (2008–2020)  
The market is forecast to be 2.4 times larger than 2008 size in 2020

Pet food 4.8% 8.1%

Pet care products 5.4% 4.5%

Wet tissues (retail use) 11.6% 4.3%

Adult incontinence care products 7.5% 13.5%

Feminine care products 4.1% 7.3%

Baby care products 4.9% 6.2%

Total 5.3% 7.5%202020081997
(Current estimates)
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               Average annual growth rates
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*Assuming U.S.$1 = ¥90, retail basis
Source: Unicharm Corporation

+5.3%

+7.5%
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our previous Medium-Term Management Plan was the establishment of a business model 
targeting middle-class consumers. By leading our competitors in launching high value-
added products incorporating new technologies and distinctive features, we have been able 
to create new markets. This success has also been supported by our strengths in product 
development and marketing. However, in key markets going forward—the emerging markets 
of Asia and MENA—we will need to maintain the distinctiveness of our products while using 
low-cost operations to ensure they are priced at level that most people can afford. At the 
end of 2007, we started selling our first ever economy-type disposable diapers in Indonesia. 
Marketed as Mamy Poko Pants Standar, these diapers were launched at a price nearly 40% 
lower than our previous products, helping them to capture a dominant position in the 
market. We believe this business model will also prove successful in other countries and 
regions where disposable diapers are not yet widely used.

Q6.	 How are you responding to rising prices for raw materials?

To counter high raw material prices, we are revising product designs and reducing the 
volume of materials needed in our products. For products aimed at the middle class in 
Indonesia and China, we are cutting raw material usage compared with our premium 
products but still maintaining product functionality. This is mitigating the impact of raw 
material price rises and reducing the environmental impact of our operations. 
	 In procurement, we are shifting from imports to domestic procurement sources to 
reduce costs and taking steps to hedge forex risks. We are also leveraging our buying 
power as the biggest user of raw materials for nonwoven fabric and absorbent materials in 
Asia to control procurement costs. 
	 Other initiatives to absorb the impact of material price rises include minimizing disposal 
losses in production processes and transferring productivity improvements realized at 
individual factories to our entire production framework. 

Q7.	 What is your stance on capital investment and M&As?

We plan to continue channeling capital investment into boosting production capacity in 
overseas markets. In fiscal 2011, we steadily upgraded production sites worldwide. In 
tandem with overseas business expansion, we will use capital investment to boost 
production capacity further and build a more efficient supply chain. 
	 We also intend to look at a wide range of M&A opportunities, provided they offer the 
potential for synergies with our existing businesses and are in growth markets. In the year 
under review, we absorbed a listed subsidiary in the pet care field, where we see long-term 
growth potential. Also, we started negotiations with Sumitomo Corporation about acquiring 
a stake in its wholly owned U.S. pet care subsidiary, The Hartz Mountain Corporation, with a 
view to concluding partnership in October this year. We will be looking for ways to move into 
some of the many markets worldwide where Unicharm still does not have a presence, and 
M&A deals could play a role here.
 

Q3.	
You have positioned China as your most important market. 
What is your outlook for business in China?

The purchasing power of China’s middle class is rising in tandem with the country’s 
economic growth. Supported by this trend, we have expanded our sales reach from China’s 
coastal cities, where we have already built a strong presence, to regional inland cities. 
However, our market share in China still only stands at roughly 20%, so we see plenty of 
scope for further market share gains going forward. We aim to increase our share by 
expanding sales areas further. Also, we plan to start up our fourth factory in China in 2012. 
This new factory in Tianjin will allow us to respond to rising demand and boost the efficiency 
of product distribution. 
	 With our Chinese business likely to become larger than our Japanese business, we have 
been taking steps to reinforce management and administrative functions at our local 
subsidiary in China. By giving this company independence to make rapid business 
decisions, our goal is to accelerate business development in the Chinese market. 

Q4.	 What is your outlook for other overseas markets?

Growing our business in China is vital, but we have to avoid giving it too much emphasis. 
Over-dependence on any single market, not just China, leads to higher risk. Consequently, 
Indonesia and MENA have very important roles to play during our eighth Medium-Term 
Management Plan. Like China, these markets have large populations but low market 
penetration rates for disposable diapers. This indicates considerable potential for market 
growth. 
	 At the moment, demand for disposable diapers is growing in emerging markets in Asia 
and MENA. We plan to respond to this demand while rolling out strategies to develop our 
next target markets. In India, a market Unicharm moved into in 2009, we started up our first 
factory in 2010 and we now operate a full-scale business in the country. We are also 
preparing the ground for our first major move into Africa with a new factory in Egypt, 
construction of which is currently under way. This factory, together with our existing 
production site in Saudi Arabia, will supply the MENA region and its combined population of 
roughly 450 million people. There are still many markets worldwide where Unicharm does 
not yet have a presence, such as Latin America and South Africa. We plan to aggressively 
move into these new markets, in addition to our existing markets, to accelerate Unicharm’s 
global business expansion.

Q5.	 Emerging markets are key to achieving the targets in the eighth Medium-Term 
Management Plan. What is your business model for these markets?

We plan to transfer our successful business model in Indonesia and China based on 
economy-type disposable diapers to other emerging markets. One of the achievements of 
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Q9.	 How did the Great East Japan Earthquake on March 11, 2011 affect Unicharm 
and what responses did you implement?  

The Great East Japan Earthquake damaged our Fukushima factory and Sendai sales office. 
Repair costs totaled roughly ¥1 billion, which were booked under extraordinary losses in the 
year under review. Unicharm operates three factories in Japan for distribution efficiency and 
to mitigate risk. As a result, our Shikoku and Shizuoka factories were able to cover the 
production shortfall due to the shutdown of the Fukushima factory, allowing us to maintain 
stable supplies. We also imported some products from our overseas factories. In 
preparation for future disasters, we plan to reinforce disaster prevention measures for 
facilities and personnel at our sites in Japan and overseas and also accelerate overseas 
expansion as part of efforts to mitigate the risk of earthquakes in Japan. 
	 The recent disaster made us realize again the vital role Unicharm products play in 
society and how deeply connected they are to everyday life. Because disposable diapers 
and sanitary products are now essential daily products, we feel responsible to ensure that 
supplies are maintained during disasters. 
	 Consumer sentiment changed after the earthquake, with consumers seeking to save 
money and turning to reliable leading brands. As the leading manufacturer in our field, we 
plan to respond to these changes in consumer sentiment by supplying customers with 
products that give them peace of mind. 
 

Q10. Finally, please tell us about your stance on shareholder returns.  

To boost earnings, Unicharm is reinforcing its financial structure and aggressively increasing 
business investment to drive continued growth, while at the same time maintaining a policy 
of stable and sustainable dividend growth. We also plan to continue implementing share 
buybacks. 
	 For fiscal 2011, we increased the dividend per share by ¥4.67* year on year, to ¥28. 
This represents the ninth consecutive fiscal year of dividend hikes since fiscal 2002. 
	 Going forward, the Company will continue to work as one to actively extend Unicharm’s 
global reach and expand its business while striving to meet the expectations of all 
shareholders and investors.

 *Adjusted for the stock split.

September 2011

Takahisa Takahara
President and CEO

Q8.	 How has Unicharm been able to report consecutive years of record earnings 
despite intensifying competition? 

Unicharm’s wide range of businesses that supply products for babies through to the elderly 
is the source of our sustained growth. We have achieved steady sales growth by launching 
the right products at the right time in each business field based on careful analysis of 
individual market characteristics and growth phases. 
	 Also, we have been able to supply first-class products and services by focusing on product 
categories primarily based on our strengths in nonwoven fabric and absorbent material 
processing and forming technology. Unrestricted expansion into markets worldwide has also 
supported Unicharm’s recent growth. This approach is the realization of our corporate ideals. 
	 However, our people have been behind Unicharm’s recent success more than any other 
factor. Each of our employees has had to raise their individual performance for Unicharm to 
achieve its targets. I believe our team, which is underpinned by common goals and a 
commitment to cooperation, is a powerful organization because of its shared values. This 
has been achieved through the implementation of SAPS Management*, which maximizes 
the capabilities of the entire organization by ensuring the whole Company heads in the same 
direction. Since introducing this approach in 2003, we have sharply increased the 
opportunities for employees to communicate, including meetings to discuss ways of 
resolving issues faced by the Company. At Unicharm, we also strive to ensure that the 
expertise of previous employees and the secret of past successes are instilled in our 
corporate culture so that they are passed onto and used by all Unicharm employees 
worldwide. In this way, we are seeking to promote wider understanding of the Unicharm 
Way in order to cultivate the next generation of leaders overseas, as well as in Japan.

*	Unicharm’s proprietary management approach. 
	 SAPS: Schedule (think about then create a plan of action)  Action (implement the plan)  Performance (assess the impact 

of the plan and identify any issues)  Schedule (reflect on the outcomes and incorporate any changes needed in the 
following week’s plan). 
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Global Population by Age Group
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Net Sales by Area (¥ billion)

Seventh Medium-Term 
Management Plan
(April 2008 – March 2011)

Eighth Medium-Term 
Management Plan
(April 2011 – March 2014)

2009/3 2010/3 2011/3 2014/3

347.9 356.8 376.9

566.9
Japan Asia (excluding China) China MENA Europe

Unicharm’s global markets in each business field are projected to expand sharply 
over the next ten years. Demand for sanitary napkins and disposable diapers for 
babies is growing rapidly in emerging markets in Asia on the back of rising incomes. 
In advanced economies, we are seeing rising demand for high value-added sanitary 
napkins and disposable diapers for babies. Over the medium and long term, we 
forecast sharp growth in demand for pet care products and adult incontinence care 
products such as adult disposable diapers, as societies age around the world. 
	 We have positioned our new three-year Medium-Term Management Plan, started 
in April 2011, as an important period for putting the foundations in place to support 
growth over the next decade. In order to tap into sharply rising demand for sanitary 
napkins and disposable diapers for babies, we plan to accelerate business expansion 
in emerging markets. At the same time, we intend to launch innovative new products 
in advanced economies, to revitalize these markets. In parallel, we will reinforce our 
business base in pet care products and adult incontinence care products, where 
demand is expected to increase strongly over the medium and long term.

[Accelerate Business Expansion in Growth Markets]
Strategy 1: Chinese Market
Accelerate growth by expanding the product lineup and sales channels

[Build Business Foundations to Support Future Growth]
Strategy 2: Pet Care Business
Develop the pet care business into a source of earnings  
on par with the personal care business by leveraging Group synergies

Strategy 3: Health Care Business
Target new demand by launching products that help alleviate  
the burden of those being cared for and the carers

[Increase Profits in Mature Markets]
Strategy 4: Domestic Feminine Care Business
Deliver profit growth in a mature market by putting more emphasis  
on product value in marketing

Unicharm’s eighth Medium-Term Management Plan (April 2011 – March 2014)

Stepping up overseas expansion and reinforcing the business base  
to support a major new phase of growth over the next decade

P. 08

P. 09

P. 10

P. 11

Achievements
•	Gains in market share achieved by 

expanding business reach into Asian 
markets where growth is strong and 
by reinforcing the production 
framework; growth in consolidated 
earnings driven by expansion in Asia

• Merger with Unicharm PetCare 
Corporation aimed at tapping 
growth opportunities over the next 
decade

Basic Strategies
• Step up efforts to tap demand from 

the middle class in emerging 
economies using low-cost operations

•	Strengthen Unicharm’s business 
base in pet care products and adult 
incontinence care products, two 
areas where demand is expected to 
grow strongly over the medium and 
long term 

Fiscal 2011 
Results

Net sales ¥376.9 billion

Operating income  
to net sales ratio

12.4%

Fiscal 2014 
Targets

Net sales ¥566.9 billion

Operating income  
to net sales ratio

15.0%
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Reinforcing management functions to speedup decision making
Amid intensifying competition with leading U.S. and European firms and local companies in 
China, we have reinforced the management functions of our local subsidiary in an effort to 
speed up business planning and implementation in our Chinese operations. We also plan to 
dispatch some of our leading domestic personnel to China to ensure the Unicharm DNA we 
have cultivated since the Company was founded is passed on to local employees through 
human resources development. 
	 China’s society is aging and this is driving growth in categories such as adult disposable 
diapers and pet care products. We plan to leverage the brand power and know-how we 
have created through sales of sanitary products and disposable diapers for babies to 
expand our business in these markets as well. 

Unicharm’s growth driven by expansion in the Chinese market
Unicharm moved into China in 1995 and is currently building its presence in the market with 
its Sofy sanitary napkin and Mamy Poko disposable diaper brands. Demand for disposable 
diapers has been rising rapidly in recent years as incomes increase. Against this backdrop, 
Unicharm’s sales in China have grown by over 30% on average in the last five years. In fiscal 
2011, sales in China grew to account for 28% of total overseas sales, and our Chinese 
business is now a major source of growth for the entire Unicharm Group.

Economy-type disposable diapers launched
In addition to sales growth in coastal cities, Unicharm sales are now rising in regional inland 
cities. This followed the autumn 2010 launch of economy-type disposable diapers aimed at 
middle-class consumers. 
	 We have been selling our highest quality products in the premium segment for some 
time in China, so the launch of our economy segment products, which offer a good balance 
between quality and price, means we now have a product lineup that meets the needs of 
many types of consumers.
 
Significant growth potential  
In China, the average market penetration rate for disposable diapers is still only around 20%. 
Given that the number of infants in China stands at just under 40 million, or more than 10 
times Japan’s figure, we think the market offers considerable growth potential. We are 
targeting further growth by continuing to expand sales through large urban retailers, which 
has been our main sales approach so far, while also continuing to focus on boosting sales in 
regional inland cities. In these inland cities, we plan to expand sales channels via small 
retailers, and also through specialist baby product retailers, which are growing strongly. 

Optimizing our supply chain by increasing production sites
In China, which continues to grow at a rapid pace, we plan to start up a new plant in Tianjin 
in 2012. This will be our fourth plant in the country. By building this new plant, we will be 
able to increase shipments to the North of China and reduce distribution costs. This supply 
chain optimization will allow us to cut the time from order to delivery. 

[ Strategy 1: Chinese Market ]

Sales of Unicharm Disposable Diapers in China Number of Chinese Cities Where Unicharm is Active
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Accelerate growth by expanding the product lineup and sales channels



unicharm  Annual Report 2011 09

China: aiming for rapid business expansion using the infrastructure  
in the personal care business
After our merger with Unicharm PetCare Corporation in September 2010, we began selling 
dried pet food for dogs and cats in Shanghai, China. Our market share there has been rising 
steadily as a result. Market penetration for pet food is low in China, but demand is growing 
in coastal cities, particularly among wealthy pet owners. With pet ownership in the country 
expected to rise, we forecast new demand worth around ¥1 trillion will emerge in the pet 
care-related market by 2020.  

United States: targeting major expansion through synergies with the Hartz brand
In the U.S. pet care market, which accounts for roughly 40% of the global market, we 
started negotiations with Sumitomo Corporation in May 2011 on forging a capital and 
business alliance in the U.S. pet care business, including the acquisition of 51% of issued 
shares in Sumitomo’s wholly owned U.S. subsidiary The Hartz Mountain Corporation. Hartz 
is the leading U.S. pet care brand in eight product categories. 
	 The U.S. pet care market is the world’s largest, estimated to be worth around $30 
billion. We forecast continued strong growth in the market of around 5% annually. Pet 
ownership in the country is seeing similar trends to those we have identified in Japan, such 
as rising ownership of small-sized dogs and caring for pets kept indoors. Demand for 
premium pet food and indoor pet toiletry products is growing. We see prospects for rapid 
expansion in our U.S. pet care business by combining Unicharm’s technological and 
product development capabilities in pet toiletry products and pet food products, which have 
already proved popular with Japanese consumers, with Hartz’s brand power and marketing 
expertise.

Merger with Unicharm PetCare aimed at maximizing synergies across the Group
The pet care market continues to expand worldwide. We estimate it will grow to be worth 
around ¥14 trillion in sales by 2020, comparable in size to the personal care market. Japan’s 
pet care market is projected to grow on the back of an increase in the number of single-
person households. We also forecast growth overseas in the advanced economies of the 
U.S. and Europe, but also in emerging markets in Asia, particularly China, and South 
America, where rising incomes and aging societies are likely to drive market expansion. 
	 Against this backdrop, we absorbed Unicharm PetCare Corporation through a merger in 
September 2010 in order to grow our pet care business in Japan and overseas and 
maximize Group synergies. 

Japan: targeting a dominant market share on the back of five main trends
In the pet care business, Unicharm has been focusing resources on four main trends in the 
Japanese pet market—caring for pets kept indoors, small-sized dogs, aging pets, and 
overweight pets. This has helped us to secure the top domestic market shares in both the 
pet toiletry and pet food categories. In pet toiletry products, we have used the nonwoven 
fabric and absorbent material processing and forming technologies developed since the first 
days of Unicharm to launch highly absorbent toilet sheets that are ideal for pets kept 
indoors. In pet food products, we supply a range of products tailored to pet ages. For 
example, in our main Aiken Genki dog food brand and Silver Spoon cat food brand, we sell 
products for pets aged seven and older and ten and older, and in a world first, we began 
selling products for dogs and cats that are 13 and older. These aged-based products 
contain the right balance of nutritional ingredients and calories for the changing bodies and 
appetites of aging dogs and cats. 
	 With pets now living longer, there has been a rise in recent years in the number of cases 
of pet obesity and pet disease such as disorders of the lower urinary tract. In response, we 
have enhanced our lineup of high value-added pet products to target a fifth trend—
emphasis on pet health. We believe these products will also help us boost our share of the 
domestic market. In pet food products, we launched Aiken Genki Best Life as a product to 
help dogs maintain their immune systems, which tend to weaken with age. Also, in our Neko 
Genki and Silver Spoon ranges, we launched products for cats approaching their 15th year 
to help them maintain healthy kidney function. In pet toiletry products, we plan to continue 
developing products using the technologies we have cultivated in the personal care 
business to create a new market category of pet toilet products for small dogs.
 

Develop the pet care business into a source of earnings  
on par with the personal care business by leveraging Group synergies

[ Strategy 2: Pet Care Business ]
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Significant potential in overseas markets 
Many countries in Asia and around the world, not just the advanced economies of Europe 
and the U.S., are projected to see rapid societal aging. Leveraging the strengths we have 
cultivated in Japan, which leads the global trend in societal aging, we plan to establish our 
Lifree brand overseas and put the groundwork in place for future market expansion.  

North America: launching advanced products made by our local plant on a timely basis
In North America, the world’s biggest market for incontinence care products, awareness of 
pants-type products is growing thanks to their user friendliness. Targeting prospects for 
continued strong growth in demand, we decided to build our own plant in North America to 
supply adult disposable diapers to the local market. The plant came on stream in August 2010. 
This has given us the capacity to launch advanced Unicharm adult disposable diaper products 
on timely basis in the large growth market of North America.

Health care business likely to continue expanding
Since moving into the adult disposable diaper market in 1987, Unicharm has led the industry 
in promoting wider use of adult incontinence products for nursing care. Sales of our 
products have continued to rise at a high annual rate in line with Japan’s aging society, and 
we expect the target market for our products to continue expanding.
 
Dominant shares in the moderate and light adult incontinence markets 
In 1989, we launched Lifree Incontinence Pads, the world’s first product in the moderate 
adult incontinence category with changeable absorbent pads. By adopting a design with an 
outer diaper layer and a changeable inner absorbency sheet, we created a product that was 
comfortable for those being cared for, but also made diaper changing easier for carers and 
reduced diaper costs. Our product has since become the de facto standard for incontinence 
care in Japan. In 1995, we introduced the concept of rehabilitation to the incontinence care 
field with the launch of Lifree Rehabili-Pants. These pants-type diapers can be put on and 
taken off by the wearer, giving them more control over their condition. Our products have 
played a key role in encouraging care for the elderly that does not restrict them to bed.  
	 We were also quick to identify demand in the light incontinence care market, launching 
our first product in 1994. This market mainly comprises the elderly and women that have had 
children who find it hard to talk about their problem with others. We still see significant 
potential demand in this market from many women who have been using sanitary napkins as 
an alternative to incontinence care products. By expanding our lineup of light incontinence 
care products and using active marketing to raise awareness of our brand, we are aiming to 
encourage these women to shift to and become regular users of dedicated products. 

Launching more comfortable products and raising awareness
The number of people needing incontinence care products is expected to increase further 
as society ages. In September 2010, we launched Lifree Ultra Thin Underwear-Type Diaper 
in response to the growing number of active seniors that like travelling, shopping and other 
pastimes. These diapers are around 50% thinner than previous products and now offer the 
same level of comfort as underwear. Also, in June 2011 we launched Lifree Hitobanju 
Ohada Anshin Pads in response to market needs for products that reduce skin rash caused 
by diaper use. 
	 In order to ensure consumers are not confused about which product to select, we 
teamed up with retailers to offer in-store counseling and create sales displays focused on the 
activities of daily living. We also worked to raise awareness of incontinence care products 
through TV commercials and online campaigns in an effort to generate new demand.

Target new demand by launching products that help alleviate the burden  
of those being cared for and the carers

[ Strategy 3: Health Care Business  ]

Domestic Sales of Unicharm Adult Incontinence 
Care Products
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	 In the nighttime use category, we sell the Sofy Super-Sound Sleep Guard, which has 
won overwhelming support from consumers. We have added more sizes to the range to 
respond more accurately to women’s needs and introduced a number of innovative features. 
For example, in March 2008, we added an anti-slip guard to ensure a tight fit and prevent 
the sanitary napkin from slipping out of place even during restless nights. In September 
2009 we added an anti-overflow sheet to reduce contact with skin and create a drier fit. 

Taking steps to create a healthier and more dynamic market  
As society ages and people have fewer children, price competition is intensifying in Japan’s 
shrinking feminine care products market. Against the backdrop of these mature market 
conditions, we have been working to create a healthier and more dynamic market. 
Specifically, we have launched new high value-added products and used sales promotions 
run in partnership with retailers to develop sales areas that give consumers greater 
understanding of the value of Unicharm products. Thanks to this approach, our mainstay 
feminine care products captured leading market shares in their respective categories in 
Japan in fiscal 2011, helping to drive a recovery in profitability in the feminine care business. 

Launching new products in growth categories: skin care and nighttime use
In Japan, the target market for feminine care products continues to shrink, while diversifying 
lifestyles mean women are looking for increasingly diverse value and functions from sanitary 
napkin products. In an effort to boost profits, we have been rolling out new high value-added 
products centered on the growth categories of skin care and nighttime use. 
	 In the skin care category, we launched Sofy Hada Omoi sanitary napkins in 2007. These 
products feature a new type of surface material called fluid control layer (FCL) sheet that is 
kind on the skin like nonwoven fabric but also has excellent absorbency like our existing 
mesh material. We have since expanded our range of Sofy Hada Omoi products by offering 
more sizes. In March 2011 we also added a new product called Sofy Hada Omoi Ultra 
Super Slim, which is fifty percent slimmer than existing products and is less tight-fitting 
without compromising on absorbency. This has generated new demand in the market. 

[ Strategy 4: Domestic Feminine Care Business ]

Deliver profit growth in a mature market by putting more emphasis  
on product value in marketing

Unicharm’s Share of the Skin Care Sanitary Napkin Market
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The Year Under Review
In Lifree incontinence care products for adults, the health care 
business responded to consumer needs by introducing Lifree 
Ultra Thin Underwear-Type Diaper, Unicharm’s thinnest ever 
underwear-type diaper. The business also relaunched an 
improved version of Lifree Yoko More Anshin Tape Dome, an 
incontinence diaper incorporating a polymer compound that 
traps odors. It also worked to boost sales by rolling out 
promotional campaigns using TV commercials, the internet 
and stores. In the light incontinence care market, which 
continues to grow, the business launched Lifree Comfortable 
Pad 220cc and Lifree Sono Shunkan Mo Anshin 250cc in 
response to consumer needs.

Strategic Outlook
In the Lifree range of incontinence care products for adults, 
the health care business plans to launch Lifree 1 Night Ohada 
A n s h i n U r i n a r y  P a d  i n c o r p o r a t i n g t h e S a r a s a r a 
Dry Sheet that keeps skin dry and prevents diaper rash. 
Th is product has been 
developed in response to 
customer concerns about 
skin problems caused by 
prolonged use of diapers. 
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The Year Under Review
In Japan, the baby care business expanded its range of 
Moony disposable diapers by launching Moony Pants, which 
incorporate a stretchy nonwoven fabric called Softretch® that 
has been under development for over 12 years. It also added 
new sizes to the existing product lineup. 
	 The business also relaunched the Mamy Poko and Mamy 
Poko Pants brand after renewing the brand logo, packaging 
and product design. The designs of the disposable diapers 
feature Disney characters and have been updated to reflect 
the latest trends in the apparel industry. 
	 Overseas in China, the business responded to broad-based 
demand for disposable diapers by launching products aimed 
at tapping strong demand from middle-class consumers. It 
also worked to boost sales growth and profitability by moving 
into new areas. In other Asian markets, the baby care 
business took steps to increase sales and improve 
profitability.

Strategic Outlook
In the Moony brand, the baby care business plans to energize 
the market for tape-type diapers by incorporating the brand’s 
unique instant absorbent sheet into its Umaretate-Jitate and 
Nenne-Jitate products to improve stay-dry performance. In 
the Mamy Poko brand, the business intends to launch 
disposable diapers with improved absorbency and updated 
logos, packaging and designs in an effort to stimulate the 
market.   

The Year Under Review
In Japan, the feminine care business worked to expand sales 
of high value-added products, including the Sofy Super-
Sound Sleep Guard and Center-in Compact series in order to 
energize the sanitary napkin market. It also added a new 
product called Sofy Hada Omoi Ultra Super Slim to the Sofy 
Hada Omoi series. The new product, which has been 
designed for women who have sensitive skin during their 
periods, is fifty percent slimmer than existing products and is 
less tight-fitting, without compromising on absorbency. 
Responding to consumer needs, the business also launched 
Sofy Fuwagokochi Long, a panty liner that can be worn with 
confidence by protecting underwear during periods. In the 
tampon market, the business started a promotional campaign 
aimed at young women in their teens and 20s to encourage 
wider use of tampons in Japan. Specifically, it launched 
improved versions of its Super (for heavy days) and Super 
Plus (for very heavy days) products under the Charm Soft 
Tampon brand. 
	 Overseas in Asian markets, as part of efforts to boost sales 
and profitability, the business expanded sales areas and 
actively promoted high value-added sanitary napkins, 
including night-use and thin sanitary napkins in line with the 
needs of each country.

Strategic Outlook
The feminine care business plans to add Sofy Hada Omoi 
Ultra Slim to the Sofy Hada Omoi series and continue offering 
products that meet women’s needs for feminine care 
products that are slim and kind on the skin.

Baby Care Business Feminine Care Business The Year Under Review
The pet care business worked to develop new products and 
markets in line with consumer needs. Specifically, it expanded 
the product lineup and boosted sales based on the four main 
trends in the domestic pet care market—caring for pets kept 
indoors, small-sized dogs, aging pets, and overweight pets. 
	 In the pet food department, the business worked to expand 
sales of the new Aiken Genki Cup and Neko Genki Cup series 
of cup-based dog and cat food, responding to the needs of 
owners of small dogs and cats for food that is tasty, has a 
good nutritional balance, and is easy to serve. It also began 
sales of dog and cat food in China, where the market is 
expected to grow. 
	 In the pet toiletry department, the business actively 
promoted sales focusing on disposable diaper products for 
pets and other pet waste care products that help create clean 
living environments for pets. These included dog sanitary sheet 
products such as Deo Sheet and a system toilet product for 
cats called 1 Week Long Deodorant and Antibacterial Deo 
Toilet. The business also launched Deotoilet for Doggies, a 
bilayer-structured dog waste disposal product designed to 
prevent urine leakage and odor by using a newly developed 
deodorant filter and deodorant/absorbent sheet material. 

Strategic Outlook
The pet care business will strive to develop new products and 
markets in response to customer needs. It also plans to focus 
on pet health, in addition to the existing 
four main market trends, and launch new 
high value-added products in an effort to 
boost domestic market share. 

The Year Under Review
This clean & fresh business worked to 
promote sales of Silcot Moist Spongy 
Puff, a skin care cotton product that 
gives the skin extra moistness with only 
half the amount of a normal lotion 
appl icat ion. I t was developed for 
customers who want to apply skin lotion 
in an effective and efficient manner. 

Health Care Business

© DISNEY© DISNEY

ClickFor more details about our business operations, please click here.

ClickFor more details about segment information, please click here.

http://www.unicharm.co.jp/english/ir/financial/segment/index.html
http://www.unicharm.co.jp/english/about/business-field/index.html
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Upgrading the Internal Control System

In fiscal 2007, the Unicharm Group launched an 
Internal Control Upgrading Project and established an 
Internal Control System Basic Policy in accordance 
with Japan’s Companies Act. Since then, Unicharm has 
actively worked to strengthen internal controls to 
further enhance the credibility of management. In fiscal 
2010, the project team that was set up to upgrade 
interna l contro ls became the Interna l Contro l 
Committee, which is responsible for evaluating the 
status and implementation of internal controls related to 
financial reporting and for suggesting improvements 

where necessary. Unicharm plans to continue its efforts 
create a highly effective internal control system, 
primarily through employees responsible for business 
sites and processes that are required to undergo 
internal control evaluation. 
	 Responding to the rapid globalization of Unicharm’s 
business is becoming increasingly important. As such, 
in fiscal 2011, the Company set up an IFRS Preparation 
Project to begin prepar ing for the adopt ion of 
international financial reporting standards. Based on 
results gleaned from the evaluation of the internal 
control system for financial reporting, Unicharm is 
working to improve business efficiency across the 
Group and upgrading IT systems. 

Corporate Governance and Internal Control

Fundamental Principles

The Unicharm Group strives to pursue correct corporate 
management pr inciples, which brings together 
corporate growth, wellbeing among employees and the 
fulfillment of its social responsibilities. Guided by these 
established ideals, the Company works to create new 
value and promote a corporate management structure 
that consistently aims to create No. 1 value for all 
stakeholders, including investors, shareholders, 
customers, local communities, business partners and 
employees. In addition, as stakeholders examine 
corporate governance and CSR with ever-more 
discerning eyes, the Group increasingly endeavors to 
ensure sound corporate management consistently 
guided by its corporate ideas. With a strong awareness 
of the importance of sustained increases in corporate 
value and the fulfillment of its corporate responsibilities, 
Unicharm’s management and operating divisions work 
together through the conduct of business to achieve 
these goals. Under a corporate auditor system, the 
Company endeavors to further strengthen its executive 
officer system, while striving to bolster overall corporate 
governance.

Composition and Management of  
the Board of Directors

The Company maintains a Board of Directors that is 
presently composed of eight directors, including the 
Founder. In addition to its monthly ordinary meetings, 
the Board of Directors holds extraordinary meetings on 
an as-required basis (20 such meetings were held 
during the year ended March 31, 2011). 
	 In an effort to enhance management’s focus on the 
front line and accelerate strategy implementation, both 
recognized as Group strengths, the Company has 
deemed it appropriate to choose as internal directors 
individuals who possess a thorough knowledge of 
Unicharm’s business operations. Consequently, 
individuals from outside the Company are not eligible to 
be directors.
	 Moreover, in 1999, we introduced an executive 
officer system with the purpose of bolstering and 

accelerat ing business operat ions. This system 
reinforces the decision-making and supervisory 
functions of the Board of Directors as well as the 
separation of execution functions for executive officers. 
As of June 2011, the Company had 18 executive 
officers, seven of whom concurrently held the position 
of director, and three deputy executive officers. 
	 Unicharm endeavors to increase the supervisory 
functions of directors and enhance the soundness and 
transparency of its corporate conduct through four 
corporate auditors, including two external corporate 
auditors.

Corporate Auditors and  
the Corporate Auditor System

Unicharm has adopted a corporate auditor system that 
comprises four corporate auditors, two of whom are 
appointed from outside the Group. The audit activities 
of corporate auditors are guided by policies, schedules, 
and tasks determined by the Board of Corporate 
Auditors. Corporate auditors also participate as 
standing members of major meetings that involve 
management decision-making and take part in 
corporate governance. To provide objective viewpoints, 
two external corporate auditors have been entrusted to 
hold the post of corporate auditor due to their ability to 
furnish broad insights based on an abundance of 
experience and knowledge in business matters. 
Through the augmentation of staff engaged in internal 
audit functions, the Internal Auditing Division is able to 
assess the effectiveness of internal control systems 
within operating divisions and recommend corrective 
measures.
	 To complement the aforementioned corporate 
auditor and internal audit systems, Unicharm’s 
accounting audit is conducted independently by 
certified accountants Kazuhiko Tomoda, Motohide 
Ozawa, Tsuyoshi Saito of the PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Aarata auditing firm. In addition, corporate auditors and 
the Board of Corporate Auditors meet periodically, and 
as needed, with accounting auditors to share the 
results of their respective audit plans and ensure 
maximum efficacy and efficiency.
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ClickFor more details about corporate governance, please click here.

http://www.unicharm.co.jp/english/about/corporate-governance/index.html
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Shareholder Returns

Fundamental Policy on Shareholder Returns

Unicharm considers the distribution of profits to 
shareholders as one of its most important management 
policies and therefore works to increase corporate 
value by generating cash flow. To boost earnings, the 
Company is reinforcing its corporate structure and 
aggressively increasing its business investment to drive 
growth, while at the same time maintaining a policy of 
stable and sustainable dividend growth. 
	 The Company’s policy on distributing profits to 
shareholders is to use 50% of net income each fiscal 
year for shareholder dividends and share buybacks. In 

line with this policy, between February 1, 2011 and 
February 28, 2011, Unicharm purchased 2,360,000 of 
its own shares (total acquisition price of ¥7,580 million) 
on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (market purchase 
through trust). 
	 For fiscal 2011, the Company increased the dividend 
per share by ¥4.67 year on year, to ¥28 (after adjusting 
for the stock split).
	 In order to make it easier for investors to invest in 
Unicharm, a 1-to-3 stock split for ordinary shares was 
conducted for shareholders of record as of September 
30, 2010. This move is aimed at boosting the liquidity 
of Unicharm stock and expanding the Company’s base 
of investors.
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Full-time Corporate Auditors

Shigeki Maruyama
Kazuhira Ikawa

Corporate Auditors

Masahiko Hirata*
Kimisuke Fujimoto*

*	External corporate auditors in accordance 
with requirements in Article 2, Item 16 of 
the Companies Act. 
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Among the industry’s 
highest returns to shareholders

Mutually sound growth

Business
Partners Employees

SocietyShareholders

Customers
Excellent products,
new value

Unicharm
Ideals

“Beliefs and Pledges” and 
Corporate Principles of Action

Internal Rules and Regulations

Action Guidelines

“Five Great Pillars” and 
Associate Principles of Action

Helping employees achieve 
a good balance between 
work and private life

Contributing to the economic 
and general well-being 
of people
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Unicharm Group CSR

The basis of Unicharm’s corporate social responsibility (CSR) activities is to encourage all its employees 
to think about and help realize the goal of sustainable development while contributing to a better quality 
life by offering the finest products and services for people in Japan and worldwide.
	 We view all the global employees in the Unicharm Group as stakeholders regardless of differences in 
culture and environment, and we look for them to fulfill their responsibilities as stakeholders to support 
Unicharm’s continued growth as a trusted company.

Unicharm Ideals

1.	 We contribute to creating a better quality of life for everyone by offering only the finest products and services to the market and 
customers, both at home in Japan and abroad.

1.	 We strive to pursue proper corporate management principles which combine corporate growth, associate well-being and the 
fulfillment of our social responsibilities.

1.	 We bring forth the fruits of cooperation based on integrity and harmony, by respecting the independence of the individual and 
striving to promote the Five Great Pillars.

The Unicharm Group’s CSR Vision

We are committed to providing world-first, leading products and services that bring comfort,  
excitement and joy to people throughout the world.

Unicharm Group CSR = Realization of Corporate Ideals

For more about our activities in this area, please visit the CSR section of 
our corporate website:

http://www.unicharm.co.jp/english/csr/
CSR Report 2011

Unicharm’s Corporate Philosophy Framework

The Unicharm Group’s CSR Ideals

Strategic Direction of the Unicharm Group’s CSR Activities

At the foundation of Unicharm’s CSR is each and every employee contemplating 
what social responsibility should be and taking steps to achieve it.

World Trends Regional Trends
Developments
in the Industry

Unicharm Ideals and
Company Policies

Expectations of
Stakeholders

Unicharm Group CSR Areas Unicharm Group Global CSR Initiatives

Phase 1

Phase 2

Phase 3

2003–2005

2006–2010

From 2011

Establishment of a CSR Promotional Framework

Global Deployment

CSR Global management

• Integrated CSR Management × 
    Communication × Environmental Management

• 2006: Participation in the UN Global Compact
• 2006: CSR Of�ce established at Shanghai Unicharm
• 2008: ISO/CSR Department established at Uni-charm Thailand
• 2009: CSR procurement started overseas

• 2003: CSR Department established (launched activities centered on quality, 
 the environment and corporate ethics)
• 2005: CSR Committee established 
 (expanded the range of CSR promotion activities)

Creating gentle care. Supporting gentle care.

New 
Value 

Creation

Corporate governance,
compliance,

product quality and safety,
environmental management,

social activities,
customer satisfaction,

CSR procurement,
industrial safety, etc.

Resonating management 
and a culture of pride
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At Unicharm, alleviating people’s burdens in managing their everyday lives and pursuing gentle care are principles underpinning 
our corporate philosophy. We create gentle care to support each and every person—promoting the sound growth of babies, the 
radiance of women, and the dignity of the aged. We believe that these efforts in themselves lead to gentle care in our immediate 
society and gentle care for the environment. We want to ful�l our duties as corporate citizens by realizing one step at a time 
initiatives for increasing the environmental value of products through means such as our company-initiated Eco Charming mark 
for recognizing environmentally friendly products and carbon offset initiatives.

Click

Beliefs and Pledges and Corporate Principles of Action

Pledge to our customers
We pledge to earn the full support of customers by always doing 
everything we can.

Pledge to our shareholders
We pledge to distribute industry-leading returns to shareholders.

Pledge to business partners
We pledge to achieve mutual growth by maintaining a fair and 
equitable relationship.

Pledge to associates
We pledge to achieve the happiness of associates and their family 
members by filling each of them with confidence and pride.

Pledge to society
We pledge to contribute to the economic and emotional fulfillment of 
the entire population through our corporate activities.

Five Great Pillars and Associate Principles of Action

Creativity & Innovation
We will respect the creation of new society values and maintain a spirit 
that always seeks out innovation.

Ownership
We will follow in the footsteps of our founder, striving to uncover 
issues from a company-wide perspective and solve them to achieve 
our management targets.

Spirit of challenge
We will continue to transform our abilities without fear of failure and 
maintain a positive attitude, based on our belief in the capacity of 
challenge to tap into unlimited potential.

Leadership
We will become leaders who are able to motivate others with our own 
determination by clearly showing the way for the organization to follow.

Fair play
We will carry out fair corporate activities that combine the spirit of 
respecting human life and dignity with high ethical standards.

http://www.unicharm.co.jp/english/csr/
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11-Year Summary
Unicharm Corporation and Subsidiaries

Millions of yen 
(Except per share figures)

Thousands of  
U.S. dollars 
(Except per 

share figures) 
(Note 1)

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2011

FOR THE FISCAL PERIOD:
Net sales ¥212,199 ¥206,707 ¥223,169 ¥240,110 ¥246,051 ¥270,380 ¥301,880 ¥336,864 ¥347,850 ¥356,825 ¥376,948 $4,541,540 
Overseas sales to net sales ratio 13.1% 17.9% 21.5% 22.9% 24.1% 26.7% 32.4% 36.9% 37.1% 38.5% 42.4% —
Cost of sales 115,823 113,546 123,883 132,074 137,341 153,264 173,239 196,130 206,209 193,012 203,395 2,450,537 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 75,544 74,187 73,493 77,309 81,424 88,585 98,711 107,003 106,757 118,747 126,992 1,530,022 
Operating income 20,832 18,974 25,793 30,727 27,285 28,531 29,930 33,731 34,884 45,066 46,561 560,981 
Net income 9,904 8,852 12,879 16,240 16,382 15,288 15,059 16,684 17,128 24,464 33,560 404,343 
Net income per share (¥/$) (Note 2) 45.92 41.73 61.76 80.09 81.42 76.45 77.44 86.46 89.44 128.56 178.11 2.15 
Cash dividends per share (¥/$) (Note 2) 8.00 6.67 8.00 9.33 10.00 10.67 14.67 15.33 18.00 23.33 28.00 0.34 
Consolidated payout ratio 14.3% 19.0% 11.8% 10.7% 11.8% 14.0% 18.9% 17.6% 20.2% 18.1% 15.6% —

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities 19,370 24,728 27,186 36,916 20,607 36,889 28,358 45,309 21,978 55,032 (17,240) (207,706)
Net cash used in investing activities (9,235) (7,262) (26,411) (25,836) (8,437) (20,251) (20,329) (10,091) (44,316) (22,239) (69,527) (837,677)
Free cash flows 10,135 17,466 775 11,080 12,170 16,638 8,029 35,218 (22,338) 32,793 (86,767) (1,045,383)

Capital expenditures 8,467 12,916 14,811 19,488 13,737 13,609 21,307 17,370 14,574 24,750 27,570 102,012
Depreciation and amortization 10,635 10,500 11,023 11,616 12,330 13,063 13,431 15,041 17,101 16,393 14,620 176,147 
Research and development costs 3,957 4,749 4,529 4,689 3,747 4,018 4,332 4,505 4,459 4,558 4,954 59,685 

AT FISCAL YEAR-END:  
Total assets ¥177,396 ¥187,060 ¥187,988 ¥209,002 ¥215,365 ¥250,355 ¥268,763 ¥275,436 ¥278,314 ¥307,773 ¥444,016 $5,349,585 
Property, plant and equipment  69,388 71,412 71,090 77,306 72,799 77,111 86,725 86,463 84,248 95,357 98,390 1,185,421 
Long-term debt—less current maturities 3,918 2,953 1,710 1,557 345 677 1,739 1,452 1,306 944 47,354 570,533 
Net assets 104,156 109,306 113,137 123,709 137,697 151,183 177,049 179,171 185,591 207,413 219,633 2,646,172 
Equity ratio  58.7% 58.4% 60.2% 59.2% 63.9% 60.4% 60.0% 58.9% 60.2% 59.7% 45.5% —

Number of employees 4,492 4,367 4,753 5,057 5,234 6,030 6,265 6,461 6,904 7,108 7,317 —

RATIOS:
Operating income to net sales ratio  9.8% 9.2% 11.6% 12.8% 11.1% 10.6% 9.9% 10.0% 10.0% 12.6% 12.4% —
Net income to net sales ratio 4.7% 4.3% 5.8% 6.8% 6.7% 5.7% 5.0% 5.0% 4.9% 6.9% 8.9% —
Gross profit to net sales ratio 45.4% 45.1% 44.5% 45.0% 44.2% 43.3% 42.6% 41.8% 40.7% 45.9% 46.0% —
SG&A expenses to net sales ratio 35.6% 35.9% 32.9% 32.2% 33.1% 32.8% 32.7% 31.8% 30.7% 33.3% 33.7% —
ROE 9.4% 8.3% 11.6% 13.7% 12.5% 10.6% 9.6% 10.3% 10.4% 13.9% 17.4% —
ROA  5.5% 4.9% 6.9% 7.8% 7.7% 6.6% 5.8% 6.1% 6.2% 8.3% 8.9% —

STOCK PRICES:
High (¥/$) (Note 2) ¥2,540 ¥1,817 ¥1,630 ¥1,990 ¥1,983 ¥2,037 ¥2,557 ¥2,653 ¥2,877 ¥3,073 ¥3,560 —
Low (¥/$) (Note 2) 1,397 902 1,100 1,520 1,510 1,333 1,933 2,080 1,913 1,917 2,690 —

Notes:	1.	U.S. dollar amounts are translated from yen at the rate of ¥83=U.S.$1, the approximate rate on the Tokyo Foreign Exchange Market on March 31, 2011.
	 2.	A 1-to-3 stock split was conducted on October 1, 2010. Per-share figures were retroactively adjusted to reflect this stock split.

ClickFor more details about financial data, please click here.

http://www.unicharm.co.jp/english/ir/financial/index.html
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percentage point, from 54.1% in the previous fiscal 
year to 54.0%. Gross profit rose 5.9% year on year to 
¥173.6 billion. Selling, general and administrative 
expenses increased by 6.9% to ¥127.0 billion, mainly 
reflecting expansion in the geographic sales area and 
aggressive sales promotions for new products. The 
main increases were ¥6.9 billion for sales promotion 
costs and ¥1.4 billion for sales-related transportation 
expenses. The selling, general and administrative 
expenses to net sales ratio increased 0.4 percentage 
points to 33.7%. 

Research and Development Costs
Guided by the desire to “Maintain our No.1 position 
through continued and dedicated service,” the Group’s 
research and development activities are based on the 
principle of continually creating new value through 
technological innovation. Led by our Technical Center 
and Engineering Center in Kanonji City in Kagawa 
Prefecture, Japan, we have consistently sought to 
improve our nonwoven fabric technology, specialized 
absorbent polymer technology and paper and pulp 
expertise, as well as develop category-leading products 
and reduce lead times from product development 
through to market launch. 
	 I n f i s ca l  2011 , t he G roup ’s resea rch and 
development costs for these activities totaled ¥5.0 
billion, equivalent to 1.3% of consolidated net sales.

Income and Expenses
In the fiscal year under review, sales promotion 
expenses increased owing to expansion in the 
geographic sales area and sales campaigns for new 
products. Together with higher raw material costs, this 
led to a rise in expenses compared with the previous 

fiscal year. However, operating income rose 3.3% year 
on year, from ¥45.1 billion to a record-high ¥46.6 
billion. Profit growth was driven by rising sales and 
continued efforts to reduce costs. The operating 
income to net sales ratio declined 0.2 percentage 
points, from 12.6% in the previous year to 12.4%. Net 
other expenses increased from ¥1.1 billion to ¥3.3 
billion, mainly reflecting foreign exchange losses on the 
valuation of loans denominated in foreign currencies 
due to yen apprec ia t ion and the book ing o f 
extraordinary losses related to the Great East Japan 
Earthquake on March 11, 2011. 
	 As a result, income before income taxes and 
minority interests declined 1.5% year on year to ¥43.3 
billion. In addition, current income taxes increased by 
¥47.9 billion, from ¥16.6 billion in the previous year to 
¥64.5 billion, owing to the merger with Unicharm 
PetCare Corporation in September 2010, and deferred 
income taxes were negative ¥58.3 billion. As a result, 
net income rose 37.2% year on year to ¥33.6 billion, a 
record high. Net income per share amounted to 
¥178.11, an increase of ¥49.55 compared with the 
previous fiscal year (after adjusting for the stock split). 

Financial Position and Liquidity

Assets, Liabilities and Equity
Total assets as of the end of the fiscal year under 
review stood at ¥444.0 billion, an increase of ¥136.2 
billion year on year. This mainly reflected increases of 
¥28.3 billion in cash and cash equivalents, ¥53.0 billion 
for goodwill, and ¥52.0 billion for deferred tax assets, 
and a decrease for ¥5.4 billion for construction in 

Net Income 

(¥ billion)

Net Assets/Equity Ratio 

(¥ billion)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Scope of Consolidation

The Unicharm Group (the Group) comprises the 
Unicharm Corporation, 31 consolidated subsidiaries 
and two affiliated companies, which mainly engage in 
business activities related to the manufacture and sale 
of baby care products, feminine care products and pet 
care products. 

Operating Results

Sales 
In fiscal 2011, ended March 31, 2011, consolidated net 
sales increased 5.6% from ¥356.8 bil l ion in the 
previous fiscal year to a record-high ¥376.9 billion. 
	 On a regional basis, sales in Japan totaled ¥219.1 
billion, accounting for 58.1% of consolidated net sales. 
In the domestic market, Unicharm worked to reinforce 
its earnings base and create new markets by bolstering 
product brands and launching new demand-generating 
products in the personal care and pet care product 
divisions. As a result, Unicharm’s sales in growth areas, 
specifically the health care and pet care product 
divisions, grew steadily. In the core baby care business, 
Unicharm expanded its range of Moony disposable 
diapers by launching Moony Pants, which incorporate a 
stretchy nonwoven fabric called Softretch® that has 
been under development for more than 12 years, and 
by adding new sizes to the existing lineup. In the 
feminine care business, Unicharm worked to expand 
sales of high value-added sanitary napkin products 
such as the Sofy Super-Sound Sleep Guard and 

Center-in Compact series as part of efforts to energize 
the market. 
	 Sales in China totaled ¥44.7 billion, accounting for 
11.9% of consolidated net sales. The feminine care 
business and baby care business both increased their 
share of the Chinese market. 
	 Sales in other markets totaled ¥113.1 bil l ion, 
accounting for 30.0% of consolidated net sales. In 
Asian entry markets, the feminine care business and 
the baby care business both boosted their market 
shares, while sales of adult incontinence care products 
and disposable diapers for babies increased in Europe. 
In the Middle East, sales of disposable diapers for 
babies grew steadily. 
	 As a result, overseas sales increased ¥22.1 billion 
year on year to ¥159.6 billion, owing to higher sales at 
all Unicharm’s overseas subsidiaries. Overseas sales 
accounted for 42.4% of consolidated net sales, a 
record-high level.

Cost of Sales and Selling, General and 
Administrative Expenses
In fiscal 2011, the cost of sales increased by ¥10.4 
billion, from ¥193.0 billion in the previous fiscal year to 
¥203.4 billion, reflecting the increase in net sales, 
higher raw material prices and other factors. However, 
the cost of sales to net sales ratio improved by 0.1 

SG&A Expenses to  
Net Sales Ratio 

(%)

Net Sales 

(¥ billion)

Operating Income/Operating 
Income to Net Sales Ratio 

(¥ billion)

Net Sales by Geographic Segment	 (¥ million)

2011

Japan ¥219,064

China 44,741

Others 113,142

Total ¥376,948

33.6

2009/32008/32007/3 2010/3 2011/3

15.1 16.7 17.1

24.5

219.6

2009/32008/32007/3 2010/3 2011/3

179.2 185.6
207.4

177.0

45.5%

58.9%60.2%59.7%60.0%

Net assets
Equity ratio

2009/32008/32007/3 2010/3 2011/3

33.7%
31.8%

30.7%

33.3%32.7%

376.9

2009/32008/32007/3 2010/3 2011/3

301.9
336.9 347.9 356.8

2009/32008/32007/3 2010/3 2011/3

33.7 34.9

45.1

29.9
12.4%12.6%

9.9%

46.6

10.0%10.0%

Operating income
Operating income to net sales ratio
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the domestic population continues to fall. As a result, 
the Group’s business performance may be affected by a 
decline in domestic demand for the Group’s mainstay 
baby care and feminine care products. 

3. Overseas Operations 
The Group currently undertakes manufacturing in 
Thailand, Indonesia, Taiwan, South Korea, China, the 
Netherlands, Saudi Arabia, Vietnam, Australia, India, 
Russia, and the U.S. The Group is therefore subject to 
a number of risks inherent in overseas business 
development. These include changes in raw material 
prices and demand due to fluctuating exchange rates 
as well as changes in the economic environment and 
regulatory changes by foreign governments. There is 
also a possibility of political or social instability in 
overseas countries. The Group’s business performance 
may be affected by any or all of these factors. 

4. Raw Material Price Fluctuation
As a manufacturer, the Group is directly subject to 
fluctuating raw material prices. The Group currently 
purchases raw materials from several outside suppliers 
and procures pulp and certain other raw materials from 
overseas sources. These transactions are generally 
conducted on a U.S. dollar basis. Despite the Group’s 
efforts to minimize the effect of exchange rate 
fluctuations through exchange rate hedging, there is a 
risk that the Group’s raw materials-related costs could 
significantly increase. These factors may consequently 
impact the Group’s business performance. 

5. Market Response to Product Reliability 
As a manufacturer and purveyor of consumer products, 
the Group considers the market’s view of product 
quality, safety and the raw materials used in its 
products to be of vital importance. In particular, 
complaints about product reliability and safety could 
cause a sudden drop in sales and negatively impact the 
Group’s business results. Although the Group has 
never been subject to large-sum compensation or had 
to face significant issues regarding complaints, it 
cannot guarantee the absence of such issues in the 
future. If such an issue were to arise, the Group’s 
business performance may be affected. 

6.	Protection of Patents, Trademarks and Other
	 Intellectual Property Rights
The Group is subject to risk of significant loss caused 
by the infringement of intellectual property rights held 
by the Group. At the same time, there is also the 
possibility that the Group may unknowingly infringe 
upon the intellectual property rights of a third party. In 

the event that either of these incidents should occur, 
the Group’s business performance may be affected. 

7. Environmental Issues
As a manufacturer, the Group is expected to abide by 
certain environmental standards both in Japan and 
overseas. These standards include the handling and 
treatment of air pollution, CO2 emissions, effluent 
emissions and waste matter. Although the Group 
be l i e ves t he re i s no nega t i ve impac t on i t s 
performance or financial standing from current laws 
and regulations, there is the possibility that future legal 
restrictions may affect its business performance. 

8.	Buy-outs, Tie-ups and Other Forms of Business
	 Elimination and Consolidation
The Group has worked to maximize corporate value 
through the effect ive use of cont inuously held 
management resources. Based on this goal, there is 
the possibility that in the course of its corporate 
act iv i t ies , the Group wi l l engage in bus iness 
acquisitions and capital subscriptions, tie-ups with 
o ther compan ies , bus iness e l im ina t ions and 
consolidations, and/or rationalizations and spin-offs. 
These developments could have an impact on the 
Group’s future business performance and its operating 
structure.

9. Information Leaks
The Group is in possession of a range of information 
that includes not only data generated within the Group 
b u t p e r s o n a l  i n f o r m a t i o n a c q u i re d t h ro u g h 
confidentiality agreements or with the consent of 
customers and clients. Accordingly, the Group has 
establ ished an information securi ty pol icy and 
stipulated corporate behavioral guidelines and other 
rules to ensure a secure information environment while 
striving for full compliance by thoroughly disseminating 
such rules to directors and employees. However, in the 
event of information leakage that calls into question the 
Group’s legal responsibility with regard to information 
management, the Group may lose credibility and its 
business performance may be affected.

progress. Liabilities totaled ¥224.4 billion, a rise of 
¥124.0 billion year on year, mainly due to an increase in 
long-term debt of ¥46.4 billion and the issuance of 
bonds with share warrants of ¥80.6 billion. Net assets 
increased by ¥12.2 billion to ¥219.6 billion, mainly 
reflecting net income of ¥33.6 billion and acquisition of 
treasury stock totaling ¥7.6 billion. 
	 Consequently, the equity ratio declined from 59.7% 
at the end of the previous period to 45.5%.

Capital Expenditures and Depreciation
Capital expenditures amounted to ¥27.6 billion in fiscal 
2011, an increase of ¥2.8 billion from ¥24.8 billion in 
the previous fiscal year. Major components of this 
spending included investment to expand overseas 
facilities due to business expansion, build new product 
facilities for core domestic businesses, and renovate 
facil it ies in l ine with productivity enhancements. 
Depreciation and amortization amounted to ¥14.6 
billion, representing a drop of ¥1.8 billion year on year 
from ¥16.4 billion. 

Cash Flows
Net cash used in operating activities totaled ¥17.2 
billion, mainly comprising ¥43.3 billion in income before 
income taxes and minority interests, ¥79.3 billion in 
income taxes paid, and ¥14.6 billion for depreciation 
and amortization. 
	 Net cash used in investing activities totaled ¥69.5 
billion, primarily reflecting ¥63.7 billion for the purchase 
of shares in a subsidiary and ¥27.4 bi l l ion for 
acquisition of property, plant and equipment. 
	 Net cash provided by financing activities totaled 
¥117.0 billon, mainly reflecting ¥80.7 billion from the 
issuance of corporate bonds and ¥70.0 billion in 
proceeds from long-term debt. 
	 As a result, cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
fiscal 2011 totaled ¥113.0 billion, an increase of ¥28.7 
billion compared with the end of the previous fiscal year.

Outlook for Fiscal 2012

In the Unicharm Group’s operating environment, there 
are prospects for growth in Asian entry markets. In 
Japan, Unicharm projects stable demand for high value-
added products that satisfy customer needs. However, 
there is a likelihood that raw material prices will begin to 
rise amid increasing demand in emerging markets. 
	 Continuing its efforts from the previous fiscal year, 
the Group implemented corporate restructuring, putting 
the highest priority on revitalizing the domestic market 

and promoting market growth and business expansion 
overseas, particularly in Asia. As a result, it achieved a 
steady increase in earnings. 
	 In the fiscal year under review, Unicharm expanded 
its overseas business, supported by economic growth 
in emerging markets, particularly in Asia. In Japan, 
although the market contracted for some personal care 
and pet care products, the Group worked to boost 
profitability by expanding sales and reducing costs 
amid signs of demand for high value-added products. 
	 In order to drive further corporate reform, the Group 
will focus its efforts on boosting added value in all its 
businesses by ceaselessly undertaking product 
innovation. In addition, the Group will implement 
measures to bolster cost reduction and cost efficiency. 
	 Unicharm will also rapidly push ahead with the 
aggressive development of overseas markets—
particularly in Asia—and the expansion of product 
lineups that meet consumer needs. Through these 
measures, Unicharm is solidifying its position as a 
category leader in growth markets, while striving to 
boost performance.

Business Risks

Unicharm and its group companies (the Group) are 
subject to a variety of potential risks that could have a 
substantial impact on business performance. Listed 
below are risk factors identified as potentially affecting 
the Group’s operations.
	 Forward-looking statements in this annual report are 
based on risk information available to management as 
of the end of the consolidated fiscal year.

1. Market Competition
The Group ant ic ipates both product and pr ice 
competition to become increasingly severe in its core 
markets, both overseas and in Japan. 
	 Given the nature of consumer products, the Group’s 
core products are constantly exposed to fierce price 
competition and successive new product releases by 
competitors. 
	 The selling environment is heavily impacted by the 
Group’s marketing and other efforts as well as those of 
its competitors. The Group’s business performance 
may be severely affected in light of expectations of 
increasingly fierce market competition. 

2. Changing Domestic Demographics
Due to Japan’s declining birthrate and aging population, 
the percentage of babies and menstruating women in 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Unicharm Corporation and Subsidiaries March 31, 2011 and 2010

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

(Note 1)
ASSETS 2011 2010 2011

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 113,008 84,270 1,361,541
Marketable securities (Note 3) 702 1,499 8,454
Notes and accounts receivable:

Trade 46,038 41,643 554,675
Allowance for doubtful accounts (34) (75) (405)

Inventories (Note 4) 22,393 20,086 269,801
Deferred tax assets (Note 12) 11,453 5,485 137,988
Other current assets 11,160 19,343 134,449

Total current assets 204,720 172,251 2,466,503

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Land (Note 5) 11,686 12,022 140,793
Buildings and structures 63,378 57,453 763,589
Machinery and equipment 156,945 154,260 1,890,901
Furniture and fixtures 7,417 6,521 89,367
Leased assets 259 223 3,118
Construction in progress 4,917 10,317 59,242

Total 244,602 240,796 2,947,010
Accumulated depreciation (146,212) (145,439) (1,761,589)

Net property, plant and equipment 98,390 95,357 1,185,421

Investments and Other Assets:
Investment securities (Note 3) 12,888 17,928 155,278
Investments in affiliates 140 125 1,681
Goodwill 65,022 12,030 783,400
Intangibles 2,380 2,534 28,676
Deferred tax assets (Note 12) 53,108 1,104 639,850
Prepaid pension cost (Note 8) 5,658 5,534 68,172
Other assets 1,892 1,936 22,800
Allowance for doubtful accounts (182) (1,026) (2,196)

Total investments and other assets 140,906 40,165 1,697,661
Total 444,016 307,773 5,349,585

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

(Note 1)
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 2011 2010 2011

Current Liabilities:
Short-term bank loans (Note 6) 6,241 5,918 75,193
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 6) 2,131 388 25,674
Notes and accounts payable

Trade 37,991 36,135 457,729
Others 28,423 28,109 342,442

Income taxes payable 1,953 10,390 23,533
Accrued expenses 11,748 10,502 141,543
Provision for loss on disaster 640 - 7,708
Other current liabilities 1,016 883 12,239

Total current liabilities 90,143 92,325 1,086,061

Long-Term Liabilities:
Convertible bonds (Note 7) 80,643 - 971,599
Long-term debt (Note 6) 47,354 944 570,533
Provision for retirement benefits (Note 8) 2,624 2,325 31,610
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 12) 688 1,378 8,293
Other long-term liabilities 2,931 3,388 35,317

Total long-term liabilities 134,240 8,035 1,617,352

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Notes 14 and 17):

NET ASSETS
Shareholders' equity (Note 19):

Common stock,
authorized: 827,779,092 shares in 2011 and 
                 275,926,364 shares in 2010
issued: 206,944,773 shares in 2011 and 
           68,981,591 shares in 2010 15,993 15,993 192,683

Capital surplus 18,802 18,802 226,534
Retained earnings 217,112 188,697 2,615,801
Treasury stock—at cost shares:
  20,521,968 in 2011 and
  6,052,515 in 2010 (43,925) (36,330) (529,214)

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities,
  net of taxes (Note 3) 3,277 2,796 39,478
Net (losses) gains on deferred hedges, net of tax (13) 9 (161)
Land revaluation difference, net of tax (Note 5) (90) (618) (1,079)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (9,221) (5,460) (111,095)

Total 201,935 183,889 2,432,947
Stock acquisition rights (Note 9) 289 - 3,479
Minority interests 17,409 23,524 209,746

Total net assets 219,633 207,413 2,646,172
Total 444,016 307,773 5,349,585

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Millions of yen

Consolidated Balance Sheets
Unicharm Corporation and Subsidiaries March 31, 2011 and 2010
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Unicharm Corporation and Subsidiaries Years Ended March 31, 2011

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

 (Note 1)
2011 2011

Net Income Before Minority Interests 37,034 446,197

Other Comprehensive Income (Note 18):

Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes 476 5,733
Net losses on deferred hedges, net of tax (57) (686)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (5,032) (60,635)
Total other comprehensive income (4,613) (55,588)

Comprehensive Income (Note 18) 32,421 390,609

Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to (Note 18):

Shareholders of the Company 30,258 364,551
Minority interests 2,163 26,058

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Millions of yen

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Unicharm Corporation and Subsidiaries Year Ended March 31, 2011CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Unicharm Corporation and Subsidiaries Years Ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

 (Note 1)
2011 2010 2011

Net Sales 376,948 356,825 4,541,540
Cost of Sales 203,395 193,012 2,450,537

Gross profit 173,553 163,813 2,091,003
Selling, General and
  Administrative Expenses (Notes 10, 13 and 21) 126,992 118,747 1,530,022

Operating income 46,561 45,066 560,981
Other Income (Expenses):

Interest and dividend income 868 753 10,463
Foreign exchange (loss) gain (1,267) 2,235 (15,266)
Interest expense (310) (155) (3,741)
Sales discount (3,296) (2,527) (39,717)
Gain on sale of property, plant, and equipment 1,012 - 12,191
Gain on sale of investments in affiliates 1,214 - 14,630
Reversal of allowance for doubtful account 905 - 10,907
Loss on disposal of property, plant, and equipment (794) (730) (9,573)
Loss on write-down of investment securities (355) (8) (4,285)
Loss on sale of investment securities (313) - (3,770)
Provision for doubtful account - (824) -
Effect of application of the accounting standard for asset (72) - (863)
  retirement obligations
Loss on disaster (1,084) - (13,055)
Other—net 227 138 2,734

Other income (expenses)—net (3,265) (1,118) (39,345)
Income Before Income Taxes and
  Minority Interests 43,296 43,948 521,636
 Income Taxes (Note 12):

Current 65,648 16,640 790,937
Refunded (1,120) - (13,502)
Deferred (58,266) (2,729) (701,996)

Total income taxes 6,262 13,911 75,439
Net Income Before Minority Interests 37,034 30,037 446,197
Minority Interests In Net Income 3,474 5,573 41,854
Net Income 33,560 24,464 404,343

U.S. dollars
2011 2010 2011

Per Share of Common Stock (Notes 2 and 19):
Net income 178.11 385.69 2.15
Diluted net income 168.42 385.66 2.03
Cash dividends applicable to the year 56.00 70.00 0.67

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Millions of yen

Yen 

Consolidated Statements of Income
Unicharm Corporation and Subsidiaries Years Ended March 31, 2011 and 2010							     
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
Unicharm Corporation and Subsidiaries Years Ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

Thousands
Net unrealized

Outstanding gains on Net gains 
number of available- (losses) Foreign

shares of for-sale on deferred Land currency
common Common Capital Retained Treasury securities hedges revaluation translation Minority Total

stock stock surplus earnings stock net of tax net of tax surplus adjustments Total interests net assets

Balance, April 1, 2009 63,652,215 ¥15,993 ¥18,802 ¥168,283 ¥(29,830) ¥1,746 ¥(28) ¥(547) ¥(6,751) ¥167,668 - ¥17,923 ¥185,591
Net income - - - 24,464 - - - - - 24,464 - - 24,464
Cash dividends, ¥62.00 per share - - - (3,946) - - - - - (3,946) - - (3,946)
Purchase of treasury stock (723,139) - - - (6,500) - - - - (6,500) - - (6,500)
Net change in the year - - - (104) - 1,050 37 (71) 1,291 2,203 - 5,601 7,804

Balance, March 31, 2010 62,929,076 ¥15,993 ¥18,802 ¥188,697 ¥(36,330) ¥2,796 ¥9 ¥(618) ¥(5,460) ¥183,889 - ¥23,524 ¥207,413
Net income - - - 33,560 - - - - - 33,560 - - 33,560
Cash dividends, ¥77.00 per share - - - (4,845) - - - - - (4,845) - - (4,845)
Purchase of treasury stock (14,469,453) - - - (7,595) - - - - (7,595) - - (7,595)
Net change in the year - - - (300) - 481 (22) 528 (3,761) (3,074) 289 (6,115) (8,900)
Stock split 137,963,182

Balance, March 31, 2011 186,422,805 ¥15,993 ¥18,802 ¥217,112 ¥(43,925) ¥3,277 ¥(13) ¥(90) ¥(9,221) ¥201,935 ¥289 ¥17,409 ¥219,633

Balance, March 31, 2010 $192,683 $226,534 $2,273,455 $(437,710) $33,686 $107 $(7,451) $(65,780) $2,215,524 $- $283,431 $2,498,955
Net income - - 404,343 - - - - - 404,343 - - 404,343
Cash dividends, $0.93 per share - - (58,380) - - - - - (58,380) - - (58,380)
Purchase of treasury stock - - - (91,504) - - - - (91,504) - - (91,504)
Net change in the year - - (3,617) - 5,792 (268) 6,372 (45,315) (37,036) 3,479 (73,685) (107,242)

Balance, March 31, 2011 $192,683 $226,534 $2,615,801 $(529,214) $39,478 $(161) $(1,079) $(111,095) $2,432,947 $3,479 $209,746 $2,646,172

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

 Millions of yen

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Subscription
rights to shares

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
Unicharm Corporation and Subsidiaries Years Ended March 31, 2011 and 2010						    
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Unicharm Corporation and Subsidiaries Years Ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

Thousands of

U.S. dollars

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Operating Activities:
Income before income taxes and minority interests 43,296 43,948 521,636
Adjustments for:

Income taxes—paid (79,288) (10,694) (955,280)
Income taxes—refunded 4,064 3,845 48,969
Depreciation 14,620 15,668 176,147
Amortization of goodwill 2,760 725 33,257
Net periodic retirement benefit costs 368 (3,853) 4,432
Net loss on sales and revaluation of investment securities 669 2 8,055
Net (gain) loss on disposals and sales of propery, plant and equipment (217) 649 (2,618)
Gain on sales of investments in affiliates (1,214) - (14,630)
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables (5,630) 574 (67,829)
(Increase) decrease in inventories (2,875) 3,045 (34,633)
Increase (decrease) in trade payables 4,650 (2,583) 56,019
Increase in other current liabilities 762 4,400 9,181
Other—net 795 (694) 9,588

Total adjustments (60,536) 11,084 (729,342)
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (17,240) 55,032 (207,706)

Investing Activities:
Proceeds from sales and redemption of marketable securities 8,398 46,057 101,184
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,702 247 20,500
Payment for purchase of marketable securities (7,600) (42,325) (91,566)
Payment for acquisition of a property, plant and equipment (27,439) (24,168) (330,593)
Purchase of time deposits (6,901) (18,297) (83,143)
Repayment of time deposits 16,842 17,022 202,912
Payment for purchase of investment securities (77) (2,839) (932)
Payment for purchase of investments in affiliates (63,692) - (767,368)
Proceeds from sales of invetsments in affiliates 4,947 - 59,607
Proceeds from sales and redemption of investment securities 4,784 2,452 57,641
Decrease in other assets (491) (388) (5,919)

Net cash used in investing activities (69,527) (22,239) (837,677)
Forward (86,767) 32,793 (1,045,383)
Financing Activities:

Increase (decrease) in short-term bank loans 1,489 1,532 17,940
Proceeds from long-term debt 70,000 183 843,373
Repayments of long-term debt (21,749) (344) (262,039)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds 80,673 - 971,958
Cash dividends paid (4,845) (3,941) (58,370)
Repurchase of the Company’s stock (7,595) (6,500) (91,504)
Cash dividends paid to minority shareholders (1,182) (1,036) (14,239)
Paid-in capital from minority shareholders 263 744 3,164
Others (82) (93) (981)

 Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 116,972 (9,455) 1,409,302

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments on
  Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,467) 511 (17,682)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and
  Cash Equivalents 28,738 23,849 346,237
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 84,270 60,421 1,015,304
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 113,008 84,270 1,361,541

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Millions of yen 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows			 
Unicharm Corporation and Subsidiaries Years Ended March 31, 2011 and 2010								      

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Unicharm Corporation and Subsidiaries Years Ended March 31, 2011 and 2010
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Unicharm Corporation and Subsidiaries Years Ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
1. BASIS OF PRESENTING CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the provisions set forth in the 
Japanese Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and its related 
accounting regulations and in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in Japan (“Japanese GAAP”), which 
are different in certain respects as to application and disclosure 
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, certain 
reclassifications have been made to the consolidated financial 
statements issued domestically in order to 

2010 consolidated financial statements to conform to the 
classifications used in 2011. 
 

The consolidated financial statements are expressed in 
Japanese yen, the currency of the country in which Unicharm 
Corporation (the “Company”) is incorporated and operates. The 
translations of Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts are 
included solely for the convenience of readers outside Japan and 
have been made at the rate of ¥83 to $1, the approximate rate of 
exchange at March 31, 2011. Such translations should not be 
construed as representation that the Japanese yen amounts could 
be converted into U.S. dollars at that or any other rate.

present them in a form that is more familiar to readers outside 
Japan. In addition, certain reclassifications have been made in the 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
a. Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of 
the Company and all of its 31 (29 in 2010) subsidiaries (together, 
the “Group”). 

Under the control or influence concept, those companies in 
which the Company, directly or indirectly, is able to exercise 
control over operations are fully consolidated, and those 
companies over which the Group has the ability to exercise 
significant influence are accounted for by the equity method. 

 
During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010, Unicharm 

Material Co., Ltd. and Kokko Paper Mfg. Co., Ltd. were merged 
into Unicharm Kokko Nonwoven Co., Ltd. effective April 1, 
2009. Furthermore, the procedures necessary to liquidate 
Uni-Charm (Singapore) Pte. Ltd were completed during the fiscal 
year ended March 31, 2010 and this company was excluded from 
the scope of consolidation as of the fiscal year. 

 
During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, Unicharm 

PetCare Corporation, a consolidated subsidiary, has merged into 
the Company (the surviving entity) and dissolved on September 1, 
2010. 

Ac-eight Corporation was included in consolidation through 
stock acquisition by Unicharm Kokko Nonwoven Co., Ltd. , a 
consolidated subsidiary, on October, 2011. 

 
Unicharm Middle East & North Africa Hyginic Industries 

Company S.A.E., a consolidated subsidiary, was founded on 
October, 2011. Unicharm Consumer Products (China) Co., Ltd., a 
consolidated subsidiary, was founded on January, 2011. 

 
Investment in two affiliates is accounted for by the equity 

method.  
 
The reporting period of other consolidated subsidiaries and 

equity method affiliates is the same as the Company’s reporting 
period. However, fourteen overseas subsidiaries and one domestic 

subsidiary close accounts on December 31. In the consolidated 
financial statements, therefore, the Company uses the financial 
statements of these subsidiaries as of December 31, and adjusts 
for material transactions that occurred during the three month 
period between December 31 and March 31. 

The difference between the cost of the Company’s investments 
in subsidiaries and affiliates accounted for by the equity method 
and its equity in the net assets at the respective dates of 
acquisition, goodwill or negative goodwill, is amortized over the 
effective investment period, calculated on an individual basis, 
using the straight-line method up to a maximum of 20 years. 

All significant intercompany balances and transactions have 
been eliminated in consolidation. All material unrealized profit 
included in assets resulting from transactions within the Group is 
eliminated. 

All assets and liabilities of the consolidated subsidiaries are 
measured at fair value as of the acquisition date. 
 
b. Cash Equivalents 

Cash equivalents are short-term investments that are readily 
convertible into cash and that are exposed to insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 

Cash equivalents include time deposits, certificates of deposit, 
commercial papers and bond funds, all of which mature or 
become due within three months of the date of acquisition. 
 
c. Inventories 

Inventories held for sale in the ordinary course of business are 
measured at the lower of cost determined by the average method, 
or net selling value, which is defined as the selling price less 
additionally estimated manufacturing costs and estimated direct 
selling expenses. The replacement cost may be used in place of 
the net selling value, if appropriate.  
 
d. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

The allowance for doubtful accounts is determined based on 
the historical experiences of the Company and its subsidiaries as 
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well as our best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses 
in the outstanding receivables. 
 
e. Marketable and Investment Securities 

Marketable and investment securities are classified and 
accounted for, depending on management’s intent, as follows: (1) 
held-to-maturity debt securities, which are expected to be held to 
maturity with the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity, 
are reported at amortized cost, and (2) available-for-sale securities, 
which are not classified as the aforementioned securities, are 
reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of 
applicable taxes, reported in a separate component of equity. 

Non-marketable available-for-sale securities are stated at cost 
determined by the moving-average method. 

For other than temporary declines in fair value, investment 
securities are adjusted to net realizable value through income. 
 
f. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation 
of property, plant and equipment, except for lease assets, of the 
Company and its domestic subsidiaries is computed substantially 
by the declining-balance method at rates based on the estimated 
useful lives of the assets, while the straight-line method is applied 
to buildings acquired after April 1, 1998 and the property, plant 
and equipment of foreign subsidiaries. The range of useful lives is 
principally from 2 to 60 years for buildings and structures, from 2 
to 20 years for machinery and equipment and from 2 to 20 years 
for furniture and fixtures.  

Capitalized lease assets are depreciated over their respective 
contract periods using the straight-line method assuming no 
residual value. 
 
g. Software 

Software is carried at cost less accumulated amortization, 
which is calculated using the straight line method. The useful 
lives are principally 5 years. 
 
h. Long-lived Assets 

The Group reviews its long-lived assets for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate the carrying 
amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss would be recognized if the carrying amount of an 
asset or asset group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted future 
cash flows expected to result from the continued use and eventual 
disposition of the asset or asset group. The impairment loss would 
be measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of the 
discounted cash flows from the continued use and eventual 
disposition of the asset or the net selling price at disposition. 
 
i. Retirement and Pension Plans 

The Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries have 
contributory funded defined benefit pension plans and unfunded 
retirement benefit plans for employees. Other consolidated 
subsidiaries have unfunded retirement benefit plans. 

The Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries account for 
the provision for retirement benefits based on projected benefit 
obligations and plan assets at the balance sheet date. 

The Accounting Standards Board of Japan (ASBJ) issued 

ASBJ Statement No. 19 “Partial Amendments to Accounting 
Standard for Retirement Benefits (Part 3)” on July 31, 2009. The 
Company adopted the new accounting standard for the retirement 
benefits effective April 1, 2009. The adoption of the new standard 
did not have any material impact on operating income and income 
before income taxes and minority interests. 
 
j. Research and Development Costs 

Research and development costs are charged to income as 
incurred. 
 
k. Leases  

All finance leases are capitalized and related lease assets and 
lease obligations are recognized in the balance sheets. 
 
l. Income Taxes 

The provision for income taxes is computed based on the 
pretax income included in the consolidated statements of income. 
The asset and liability approach is used to recognize deferred tax 
assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred taxes are measured by 
applying currently enacted tax laws to the temporary differences. 
 
m. Foreign Currency Transactions 

All short-term and long-term monetary receivables and 
payables denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 
Japanese yen at the exchange rates at the balance sheet date. The 
foreign exchange gains and losses from translation are recognized 
in the consolidated income statement to the extent that they are 
not hedged by forward exchange contracts. 
 
n. Foreign Currency Financial Statements 

The balance sheet accounts of the consolidated foreign 
subsidiaries are translated into Japanese yen exchange rates in 
effect as of the balance sheet date except for equity, which is 
translated at the historical rate. 

Differences arising from such translation were presented as 
“Foreign currency translation adjustments” in a separate 
component of equity. 

Revenue and expense accounts of consolidated foreign 
subsidiaries are translated into yen at the average exchange rates 
prevailing during the year. 
 
o. Derivatives and Hedging Activities 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its 
exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange. Foreign exchange 
forward contracts and currency options are utilized by the Group 
to reduce foreign currency exchange risks. The Group does not 
enter into derivatives for trading or speculative purposes. 

Derivative financial instruments and foreign currency 
transactions are classified and accounted for as follows: (a) all 
derivatives are recognized as either assets or liabilities and 
measured at fair value, and gains or losses on derivative 
transactions are recognized in the consolidated statements of 
income and (b) for derivatives used for hedging purposes, if 
derivatives qualify for hedge accounting because of high 
correlation and effectiveness between the hedging instruments 
and the hedged items, gains or losses on derivatives are deferred 
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until maturity of the hedged transactions. 
The foreign currency forward contracts and currency options 

are utilized to hedge foreign currency exposures in procurement 
of raw materials from import purchases. Trade payables 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the contracted 
rates if the forward contracts qualify for hedge accounting. 
Forward contracts applied for forecasted transactions are 
measured at fair value, and the unrealized gains/losses are 
deferred until the underlying transactions are completed. 
 
p. Per Share Information 

Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income 
available to common shareholders by the weighted-average 
number of common shares outstanding for the period, 
retroactively adjusted for stock splits. 

The weighted-average number of common shares used in the 
computation was 188,421,882 shares for 2011, and 63,429,560 
shares for 2010. 

Diluted net income per share reflects the potential dilution that 
could occur if securities were exercised or converted into 
common stock (including subsidiaries’ common stock). Diluted 
net income per share of common stock assumes full conversion of 
the outstanding convertible notes and bonds at the beginning of 
the year (or at the time of issuance) with an applicable adjustment 
for related interest expense, net of tax, and full exercise of 
outstanding warrants. 

Cash dividends per share presented in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of income are dividends applicable to the 
respective years including dividends to be paid after the end of 
the year. 
 
q. Provision for bonuses 

Provision for bonuses is stated at the estimated amount of the 
bonuses to be paid to employees based on their services provided 
for the fiscal year. 
 
r. Provision for loss on disaster 

The provision for loss on disaster is stated at the amount 
considered to be appropriate based on estimation of expenses or 
losses for the restoration of plants and equipment damaged by the 
Great East Japan Earthquake and other losses. 
 
s. Asset Retirement Obligations 

Effective from the current fiscal year, the Company applied 
“Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations” (ASBJ 
Statement No. 18, March 31, 2008) and “Guidance on 
Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations” (ASBJ 
Guidance No. 21, March 31, 2008). 

The adoption of the new standard did not have any material 
impact on operating income and income before incomes taxes and 
minority interests. 
 
t. Business Combinations 

Effective from the current fiscal year, the Company applied 
“Accounting Standard for Business Combinations” (ASBJ 
Statement No. 21, December 26, 2008), “Accounting Standard for 
Consolidated Financial Statements” (ASBJ Statement No. 22, 
December 26, 2008), and “Revised guidance on Accounting 

Standard for Business Combinations and Accounting Standard for 
Business Divestitures” (ASBJ Guidance No. 10, December 26, 
2008). 
 
u. Comprehensive income 

Effective from the current fiscal year, the Company applied 
“Accounting Standard for Disclosure of Comprehensive Income” 
(ASBJ Statement No. 25, June 30, 2010); however, 
“Accumulated other comprehensive income” and “Total 
accumulated other comprehensive income” for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2010 are equivalent to “Valuation, Translation 
adjustments and others” and “Total valuation, translation 
adjustments and others.” In addition, the Company has prepared 
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the 
fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 as well as that for the fiscal 
year ended March 31, 2011. 
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3. MARKETABLE AND INVESTMENT SECURITIES 
 

Marketable and investment securities at March 31, 2011 and 2010 consisted of the following: 
 Millions of yen  Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
 2011 2010  2011 
Current:     
  Government and corporate bonds   ¥702 ¥1,499  $8,454 
Non-current:     
  Marketable equity securities ¥9,457 ¥9,755  $113,935 
  Government and corporate bonds 2,203 2,203  26,542 
  Trust fund investments and other 1,228 5,970  14,801 
Total ¥12,888  ¥17,928  $155,278 
 
 
The carrying amounts and aggregate fair values of marketable and investment securities at March 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 
 
  Millions of yen   

March 31, 2011 Cost 
Unrealized 

gains 
Unrealized 

losses 
Fair 

value 
  Securities classified as:     
   Available-for-sale:      
     Equity securities ¥4,752 ¥5,144 ¥440 ¥9,456 
     Debt securities and other 1,000 - 13 987 

Held-to-maturity 2,905 2 181 2,726 
Total ¥8,657 ¥5,146 ¥634 ¥13,169 

 
 
  Millions of yen   

March 31, 2010 Cost 
Unrealized 

gains 
Unrealized 

losses 
Fair 

value 
  Securities classified as:     
   Available-for-sale:      
     Equity securities ¥ 4,674 ¥5,251 ¥170 ¥9,755 
     Debt securities and other 5,216 157 513 4,860 

Held-to-maturity 3,703 10 198 3,515 
Total ¥13,593 ¥5,418 ¥881 ¥18,130 

 
 
 Thousands of U.S. dollars 

March 31, 2011 Cost 
Unrealized 

gains 
Unrealized 

losses 
Fair 

value 
  Securities classified as:     
   Available-for-sale:      
     Equity securities $57,263 $61,976 $5,304 $113,935 
     Debt securities and other 12,043 - 153 11,890 

Held-to-maturity 34,995 27 2,183 32,839 
Total $104,301 $62,003 $7,640 $158,664 
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Available-for-sale securities and held-to-maturity securities whose fair value are not readily determinable as of March 31, 2011 and 
2010 were as follows: 
 
 Carrying Amount 

 
Millions of yen 

 Thousands of 
U.S. dollars 

 2011 2010  2011 
  Available-for-sale:     
    Equity securities ¥   366 ¥   364  $ 4,415 
    Debt securities and other 15 33  177 
  Held-to-maturity (Commercial paper) 400 500  4,819 
  Total ¥ 781 ¥ 897  $9,411 
 

Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities for the 
years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 were ¥3,906 million 
($47,056 thousand) and ¥7,067 million, respectively. Gross 
realized gains on and losses on these sales, as determined by the 
moving-average cost, were ¥213 million ($2,561 thousand) and 

¥525 million ($6,330 thousand) respectively for the year ended 
March 31, 2011. Gross realized gains on and losses on these sales, 
as determined the moving average cost, were ¥72 million and 
¥112 million, respectively, for the year ended March 31, 2010. 

 
 

The carrying values of debt securities by contractual maturities for securities classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity at 
March 31, 2011 and 2010, were as follows: 
 
 

Millions of yen 
 Thousands of  

U.S. dollars 

March 31, 2011 
Available- 

for-Sale 
Held-to 
Maturity 

 Available- 
for-Sale 

Held-to 
Maturity 

Due in one year or less ¥- ¥905  $- $10,899 
Due after one year through five years - -  - - 
Due after five years through ten years - 1,000  - 12,048 
Due after ten years - 1,000  - 12,048 
Total ¥- ¥2,905  $- $34,995 
 
 
 Millions of yen 

March 31, 2010 
Available- 

for-Sale 
Held-to 
Maturity 

Due in one year or less - ¥1,500 
Due after one year through five years - 203 
Due after five years through ten years ¥1,845 - 
Due after ten years 1,987 2,000 
Total ¥3,832 ¥3,703 
 
 
4. INVENTORIES 
 

Inventories at March 31, 2011 and 2010 consisted of the following: 
 
 

Millions of yen 
 Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
 2011 2010  2011 
Merchandise and finished products ¥ 11,724 ¥ 11,607  $141,260 
Work in process 359 273  4,328 
Raw materials 9,202 6,985  110,862 
Supplies 1,108 1,221  13,351 
Total ¥ 22,393 ¥ 20,086  $269,801 
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5. LAND REVALUATION 
 

Under the “Act on Revaluation of Land,” promulgated on 
March 31, 1998 and revised on March 31, 1999 and 2001, the 
Company elected a one-time revaluation of its own-use land to 
real estate appraisal value as of March 31, 2001. 

The resulting “land revaluation difference” represents 
unrealized appreciation of land and is stated, net of income taxes, 

as a component of equity. There is no effect on the consolidated 
statement of income. 

As of March 31, 2011, the carrying amount of the land, net of 
the above one-time revaluation exceeded the market value by ¥90 
million ($1,079 thousand). 

 
 
6. SHORT-TERM BANK LOANS AND LONG-TERM DEBT 
 

Short-term bank loans at March 31, 2011 and 2010 consisted of 
notes to banks and bank overdrafts. Short-term loans were made 
under general security agreements with banks. Loans from banks 

and municipal corporation, due serially to 2016 with interest rates 
ranging 0.4% to 1.4% in 2011 and 2.6% to 2.8% at March 31, 
2010, respectively. 

 
Long-term debt at March 31, 2011 and 2010 consisted of the following: 

 
 

Millions of yen 
 Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
 2011 2010  2011 
Loans from banks and municipal corporations, due serially     
 to 2016 with interest rates ranging 0.4% to 1.4% in 2011     
And from 2.6% to 2.8% in 2010 ¥49,485 ¥1,331  $596,207 
Obligations under finance leases 167 186  2,008 

Total 49,652 1,517  598,215 
Less current portion (2,221) (459)  (26,754) 
Long-term debt, less current portion ¥47,431 ¥1,058  $571,461 
 
 

Annual maturities of long-term debt, excluding finance leases (see Note 14), at March 31, 2011 were as follows: 
 
 

Year Ending March 31 Millions of yen 
 Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
2012 ¥2,131  $25,674 
2013 2,169  26,129 
2014 2,185  26,331 
2015 2,000  24,097 
2016 and thereafter 41,000  493,976 
Total ¥49,485  $596,207 
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7. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 
 

The Company has issued the bonds as follows: 
 
     

Millions of yen 
 Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
 Issuance 

date 
Interest rate Security Maturity 

date 
2011 2010  2011 

Convertible bonds 
due in 2013 

September 
24, 2010 

- Unsecured September 
10, 2013 

34,643 -  417,382 

Convertible bonds 
due in 2015 

September 
24, 2010 

- Unsecured September 
10, 2015 

46,000 -  554,217 

Total  - - - 80,643 -  971,599 
 
(Note 1) The details of convertible bonds issued are as follows: 
 
Bonds and notes Convertible bonds due in 2013 Convertible bonds due in 2015 
Type of stock Common stock Common stock 
Issue price of 
acquisition rights 

No cost No cost 

Issue price of stock ¥3,883.3 ¥3,883.3 
Number of stocks subject 
to acquisition rights 

8,884,196 11,845,595 

Total amount of issue ¥34,672,500,000 ¥46,000,000,000 
Total amount of stock 
acquisition rights 
exercised 

 
- 

 
- 

Percentage of stock 
acquisition right granted 

 
100.0 

 
100.0 

Exercisable period October 8, 2010 – September 10, 
2013 

(at local time where the request 
for exercise will be received) 

October 8, 2010 – September 
10,2015 

(at local time where the request 
for exercise will be received) 

* Exercise of a stock acquisition right causes the corresponding bond to be cancelled in lieu of a cash payment of purchase of shares, and 
the amount of the convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights is the same as the amount of issuance. 

 
(Note 2) 
Repayment schedule of convertible bond: 

  Millions of yen 

 
March 31, 2011 

Due in one year 
or less 

Due after one 
year through 
two years 

Due after two 
years through 
three years 

Due after three 
years through 
four years 

Due after four 
years through 
five years 

 - - ¥34,643 - ¥46,000 
 

  Thousands of U.S. dollars 

 
March 31, 2011 

Due in one year 
or less 

Due after one 
year through 
two years 

Due after two 
years through 
three years 

Due after three 
years through 
four years 

Due after four 
years through 
five years 

 - - $417,382 - $554,217 
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8. RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLANS 
 

The Company and domestic subsidiaries have severance 
payment plans for employees, directors and corporate auditors. 

Under most circumstances, employees terminating their 
employment are entitled to retirement benefits determined based 
on the rate of pay at the time of termination, years of service and 
certain other factors. Such retirement benefits are made in the 
form of a lump-sum severance payment from the Company or 

from certain subsidiaries and annuity payments from a trustee. 
Employees are entitled to larger payments if the termination is 
involuntary, by retirement at the mandatory retirement age, by 
death, or by voluntary retirement at certain specific ages prior to 
the mandatory retirement age.  

 

 
The provision for employees’ retirement benefits at March 31, 2011 and 2010 consisted of the following: 

 
 

Millions of yen 
 Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
 2011 2010  2011 
Projected benefit obligation ¥30,693 ¥32,969  $369,799 
Fair value of plan assets (25,376) (27,556)  (305,742) 
Unrecognized actuarial loss (8,177) (8,475)  (98,521) 
Unrecognized prior service cost (174) (147)  (2,098) 
Prepaid pension cost 5,658 5,534  68,172 

Provision for retirement benefits ¥2,624 ¥2,325  $31,610 
 

The components of net periodic benefit cost for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 
 
 

Millions of yen 
 Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
 2011 2010  2011 
Service cost ¥1,674 ¥1,529  $20,168 
Interest cost 538 453  6,487 
Expected return on plan assets (583) (436)  (7,025) 
Recognized actuarial loss 1,216 1,102  14,647 
Amortization of prior service cost 17 62  210 

Net periodic benefit cost ¥2,862 ¥2,710  $34,487 
 

Assumptions used for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 were set forth as follows: 
 
 2011 2010 
Discount rate 2.0% 2.0% 
Expected rate of return on plan assets 3.0% 3.0% 
Amortization period of actuarial gain/loss 10 years 10 years 
Amortization period of prior service cost 5 years 5 years 
Amortization method of projected benefit obligation The straight-line method The straight-line method 
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9. STOCK OPTIONS 
 

For the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company recognized and allocated share-based compensation costs as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars 
Cost of Sales ¥ 90 $ 1,086 
Selling, General and 

Administrative Expenses 199 2,393 
Total ¥ 289 $ 3,479 

 
 

The stock options for the year ended March 31, 2011 were as follows: 
 
Unicharm Corporation 

Meeting 
date 

Persons 
granted 

Number of 
options granted 

Date of 
grant 

Conditions 
for vesting 

Vesting 
date 

Exercisable 
period 

September 16, 2010 
(2010 Stock Option) 
 
 
 

9 company’s directors 
1 subsidiaries’ director 
1,651 company’s employees 
1,397 subsidiaries’ 
employees 

Common stock 
2,594,700 shares 

November 1, 2010 * 
** 

From 
November 1, 2010 
to September 30, 
2012 

From 
October 1, 2012 
to September 30, 2016 

       
 
 
*   The market price of the Company’s common stock at the time of stock option exercise must be at least ¥4,800 (In the event that it becomes necessary to adjust this 

value, the adjustment shall be conducted in a uniform and predetermined manner). 
**  A Stock option rights holder must, at the time of the stock option exercise, hold a position within Unicharm or its affiliates as a director or employee. However, Unicharm’s 

Board of Directors may approve the exercise of stock options by directors who have resigned due to the expiration of one’s term or employees who have retired due to 
reaching the mandatory retirement age. 

 
The activities of the stock option were as follows: 
 
  

Unicharm Corporation 
 2010 Stock Option 
 (Shares) 
For the year ended March 31, 2011  
  Non-vested - 
  March 31, 2010—Outstanding - 
     Granted 2,594,700 
     Forfeited 5,400 
  March 31, 2011—Outstanding 2,589,300 
  Vested  
  March 31, 2010—Outstanding - 
      Exercised - 
     Forfeited - 

March 31, 2011—Outstanding - 
  
 Exercise price ¥3,287 
 ($40) 
 Average stock price at exercise - 
  
 Fair value price at grant date ¥51,300 

($618) 
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The stock options for the year ended March 31, 2010 were as follows: 
 
Unicharm Corporation 

Meeting 
date 

Persons 
granted 

Number of 
options granted 

Date of 
grant 

Conditions 
for vesting 

Vesting 
date 

Exercisable 
period 

June 29, 2004 
(2004 Stock Option) 
 
 
 

8 company’s directors and  
corporate auditors 
1 subsidiaries’ directors and 
corporate auditors 
52 company’s employees 
215 subsidiaries’ employees 
49 others*** 

Common stock 
61,000 shares 

October 1, 2004 * 
** 

From 
October 1, 2004 
to June 30, 2007 

From 
July 1, 2007 
to June 30, 2009 

 
 
*   The market price of the Company’s common stock at the time of stock option exercise must be at least ¥8,200 (In the event that it becomes necessary to adjust this 

value, the adjustment shall be conducted in a uniform and predetermined manner). 
**  A Stock option rights holder must, at the time of the stock option exercise, hold a position within Unicharm or its affiliates as a director, corporate auditor, employee or 

advisor. However, Unicharm’s Board of Directors may approve the exercise of stock options by directors or corporate auditors who have resigned due to the expiration 
of one’s term or employees who have retired due to reaching the mandatory retirement age. 

*** Others include retired directors and employees. 
 
The activities of the stock option were as follows: 
 
  

Unicharm Corporation 
 2004 Stock Option 
 (Shares) 
For the year ended March 31, 2010  
  Non-vested  
  March 31, 2009—Outstanding - 
     Granted - 
     Forfeited - 
  March 31, 2010—Outstanding - 
  Vested  
  March 31, 2009—Outstanding 61,000 
      Exercised - 
     Forfeited 61,000 

March 31, 2010—Outstanding - 
  
 Exercise price ¥5,702 
  
 Average stock price at exercise - 
  
 Fair value price at grant date - 
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Fair value as of the grant date for stock options which were issued during the year ended March 31, 2011 was estimated using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: 
 
Expected volatility* 25.57% 
Expected remaining period** 3.92 years 
Expected dividend yield rate*** 0.75% 
Risk-free interest rate**** 0.25% 
 
* Expected volatility is estimated based on the weekly historical volatility of the Company’s stock for the expected remaining period 

(3.92 years). 
** Options may not be exercised for a period of 1.92 years after the grant date (the restriction period), and the expected remaining 

period is determined to be the period from the grant date to the midpoint of the exercisable period (4 years). 
*** Expected dividend yield rate is estimated based on the price of the Company’s stock (after split) as of the grant date and actual 

dividends paid for the year ended March 31, 2010. 
**** Risk-free interest rate is calculated based on the interest rate of government-issued bonds with a remaining period corresponding 

to the expected remaining period of the stock options (3.92 years). 
 
Since it is difficult to estimate the forfeited number of stock options for future periods, estimates of the vested number of stock options are 
based upon actual forfeiture rates for prior periods. 
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A reconciliation between the normal effective statutory tax rates and the actual effective tax rates reflected in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of income for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:  

 
  2011  2010  
       

Normal effective statutory tax rate  40.7 %  40.7 % 
Amortization for goodwill  2.6     
Expenses not deductible for income tax purposes     0.4  
Lower income tax rates applicable to income in certain foreign countries  (9.9 )  (8.5 ) 
Dividends  0.5     
Valuation allowance  38.2     
Income tax – refunded  (2.7)     
Effects of the merger  (57.0)   (  ) 
Effects on sale of investment affiliate  1.2     
Other  0.8   (0.9)  
       
Actual effective tax rate  14.4 %  31.7 % 

28
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10. SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 consisted of the following: 
 
 

Millions of yen 
 Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
 2011 2010  2011 
Sales promotion ¥49,778 ¥42,874  $599,740 
Advertising 12,628 13,211  152,140 
Shipping and storage expenses 19,711 18,305  237,476 
Employees’ salaries 12,129 11,826  146,130 
Depreciation and amortization 1,373 1,890  16,546 
Other 31,373 30,641  377,990 
Total ¥126,992 ¥118,747  $1,530,022 
 
 
11. GAIN ON SALE OR LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment for the years ended March 31, 2011 consisted of the following: 
 
 

Millions of yen 
Thousands of  
U.S. dollars 

 2011 2011 
Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment   
  Buildings and structures ¥959 $11,553 
  Machinery and equipments 41 493 
  Others 12 145 
 
 Millions of yen 
 2010 
Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment  
  Machinery and equipments ¥67 
  Land 14 
  Others  

 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 consisted of the following: 

 
 

Millions of yen 
Thousands of  
U.S. dollars 

 2011 2011 
Loss on removal of property, plant and equipment   
  Buildings and structures ¥19 $233 
  Machinery and equipments 722 8,697 
  Removal costs 16 193 
  Others 21 252 
Loss on sales of property, plant and equipment   
  Buildings and structures 2 31 
  Machinery and equipments 8 93 
  Others 6 74 
 
 Millions of yen 
 2010 
Loss on removal of property, plant and equipment  
  Buildings and structures ¥86 
  Machinery and equipments 439 
  Removal costs 57 
  Others 20 
Loss on sales of property, plant and equipment  
  Buildings and structures 11 
  Machinery and equipments 115 
  Removal costs 2 
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12. INCOME TAXES 
 

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries are subject to 
Japanese national and local income taxes, which, in the aggregate, 
resulted in a normal effective statutory tax rate of approximately 

40.7% for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010. Foreign 
subsidiaries are subject to income taxes of the countries in which 
they operate. 

 
The tax effects of significant temporary differences, which resulted in deferred tax assets and liabilities at March 31, 2011 and 2010, 

were as follows: 
 
 
 

Millions of yen 
 Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
 2011 2010  2011 
Deferred tax assets:     
  Accrued bonuses ¥1,329 ¥1,315  $16,016 
  Valuation loss on inventory 207 435  2,500 
  Accrued sales promotion expense 2,024 2,272  24,382 
	
 Undeductible account payable 936 -  11,272 

Devaluation of securities 440 -  5,299 
  Pension and severance costs 2,445 2,755  29,458 

Tax-deductible goodwill 43,779 -  527,462 
Tax loss carryforwards 32,858 709  395,878 

  Accrued enterprise tax - 788  - 
  Unrealized gains - 55  - 
  Investment securities - 469  - 
  Allowance for doubtful accounts - 402  - 
  Depreciation - 105  - 
  Impairment loss - 94  - 
  Other 1,467 1,394  17,665 
  Less valuation allowance (16,384) (859)  (197,395) 
Total 69,101 9,934  832,537 
Deferred tax liabilities:     
  Net unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities 1,755 1,923  21,141 
  Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 572 461  6,892 
  Prepaid pension cost 2,394 2,252  28,841 
  Other 507 87  6,118 
Total 5,228 4,723  62,992 
Net deferred tax assets—current ¥11,453 ¥5,485  $137,988 
Net deferred tax assets— non-current ¥53,108 ¥1,104  $639,850 
Net deferred liabilities—non-current ¥(688) ¥(1,378)  $(8,293) 
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A reconciliation between the normal effective statutory tax rates and the actual effective tax rates reflected in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of income for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:  

 
  2011  2010  
       

Normal effective statutory tax rate  40.7 %  40.7 % 
Amortization for goodwill  2.6     
Expenses not deductible for income tax purposes     0.4  
Lower income tax rates applicable to income in certain foreign countries  (9.9 )  (8.5 ) 
Dividends  0.5     
Valuation allowance  38.2     
Income tax – refunded  (2.7)     
Effects of the merger  (57.0)   (  ) 
Effects on sale of investment affiliate  1.2     
Other  0.8   (0.9)  
       
Actual effective tax rate  14.4 %  31.7 % 
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(3) Supplementary explanation about fair value of financial instruments 
Where no market price information is available, management use certain assumptions to determine the fair value of those financial 

instruments. Accordingly, the value of these instruments would vary if different assumptions were used. Note that contract amounts 
of derivatives presented in Note 16 “Derivatives” do not represent volume of underlying market risk of the derivative transactions. 

 
 
 

2. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
Carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments and their net differences as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 
 
Note that the following table does not include fair values for financial instruments for which the fair value is difficult to determine. 

 
 Millions of yen 
March 31, 2011 Carrying amount Fair value Difference 
Cash and cash equivalents ¥118,570 ¥118,570  
Notes and accounts receivable 46,038    
  Allowance for doubtful accounts (*1) (34)   
 46,004 46,004  
Marketable and investment securities 13,348 13,169 (179) 
Total assets ¥177,922 ¥177,743 (179) 
Notes and accounts payable ¥37,991 ¥37,991  
Short-term bank loans 8,372 8,372  
Other payables 28,423 28,423  
Income taxes payable 1,953 1,953  
Convertible bonds 80,643 84,470 3,827 
Long-term debt 47,354 47,234 (120) 
Total liabilities ¥204,736 ¥208,443 3,707 
Derivative transactions (*2)    

Hedge accounting is not applied ¥16 ¥16  
Hedge accounting is applied (36) (36)  

Total derivative transactions (¥20) (¥20)  
 
 

 Millions of yen 
March 31, 2010 Carrying amount Fair value Difference 
Cash and cash equivalents ¥99,875 ¥99,875  
Notes and accounts receivable 41,643    
  Allowance for doubtful accounts (*1) (75)   
 41,568 41,568  
Marketable and investment securities 18,318 18,131 (187) 
Total assets ¥159,761 ¥159,574 (187) 
Notes and accounts payable ¥36,135 ¥36,135  
Short-term bank loans 6,306 6,306  
Other payables 28,110 28,110  
Income taxes payable 10,390 10,390  
Total liabilities ¥80,941 ¥80,941  
Derivative transactions (*2)    

Hedge accounting is not applied ¥(7) ¥(7)  
Hedge accounting is applied 34 34  

Total derivative transactions ¥27 ¥27  
 

29
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13. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS 
 

Research and development costs charged to income were ¥4,954 million ($59,685 thousand) and ¥4,558 million for the years ended 
March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
 
 
 
14. LEASES 
 

Obligations under non-cancellable leases accounted for as operating leases subsequent to March 31, 2011 were as follows: 
 
  

Millions of yen 
 Thousands of  

U.S. dollars 
 2011  2011 
 Finance leases Operating leases  Finance leases Operating leases 
Due within one year ¥90 ¥2  $1,079 $27 
Due after one year 77 3  929 28 
Total ¥167 ¥5  $2,008 $55 
 
 
 
 
 
15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RELATED DISCLOSURES 
 

The ASBJ revised ASBJ Statement No. 10 “Accounting Standard for Financial Instruments” and issued ASBJ Guidance No. 19 
“Guidance on Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial instruments”. The Company applied the revised standard effective April 1, 2009. 
 
1. Disclosure on Financial Instruments 
(1) Policy for financial instruments 

With respect to fund management, cash surpluses, if any, are invested in low risk financial assets. The Company determines which 
way to fund through reviewing financial conditions and market circumstances and, based on these, puts them into practice. 
Derivatives are used, not for speculative purposes, but to avoid the market risk of fluctuation in foreign exchange rates associated 
with receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies. 
 

(2) Nature and risk of financial instruments and risk management system 
Receivables such as trade notes and trade accounts are exposed to customer credit risk. With regard to such risk the sales 

administration department monitors major customers periodically and controls the collection dues and outstanding balances per 
customer in order to identify doubtful receivables resulting from deterioration of customers' financial positions at an early stage. 

Furthermore trade receivables denominated in foreign currency due from overseas subsidiaries are exposed to currency risk. The 
Company hedges against the position, net of payables, using foreign exchange forward contracts, if necessary.  

Investment securities held by the Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries, which consist of equity securities held for the 
purpose of business or capital alliances and debt securities classified as available-for-sale securities, are exposed to the market risk 
due to fluctuation in market prices.  

With regard to the equity securities held for the purpose of business alliance, fair values are periodically reported at the board 
meetings. The Company limits the debt securities included in investment securities to the highly rated bonds in accordance with the 
Company's fund management policy; therefore, the credit risk associated with those securities is limited.  

Payables—notes payable, accounts payable trade and accrued income taxes—mostly have payment due dates within one year. A 
portion of the trade payables denominated in foreign currencies that is stemmed from importing of raw materials is exposed to 
foreign currency exchange risk, while it is hedged through using forward foreign currency contracts when necessary. Long-term debt 
and Convertible bonds are taken out principally for the purpose of investment and facilitation of funds. Debt with variable interest 
rates is exposed to interest rate fluctuation risk. The Group manages its liquidity risk by holding adequate volumes of liquid assets 
along with adequate financial planning made by the corporate treasury department based on reports from relevant departments. 

Derivative contracts employed by the Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries are foreign exchange forward contracts for 
the purpose of hedging against the market risk due to fluctuation in foreign exchange rates associated with the trade receivables and 
payables denominated in foreign currencies. The derivative transactions are executed and controlled in accordance with the internal 
rule and used for hedging actual transactions. For hedging instruments, hedged items, hedge method and hedge effectiveness of 
hedge accounting, please see Note 16. “Derivatives and Hedging Activities”. 
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Derivative transactions: 
Please see Note 16 “DERIVATIVES”. 

 
(Note 2) Carrying amounts of financial instruments for which fair value cannot be reliably measured were as follows: 
  

Millions of yen 
 Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
 2011 2010  2011 
Unlisted equity securities  366 ¥364  $4,415 
Investment in partnerships 15 33  177 
Debt securities 
  Allowance for doubtful accounts (*1) 

 
 

838 
(838) 

  
 

Total 381 ¥397  $4,592 
These items are not included in above “Marketable and investment securities” since no market price is available and it is extremely 

difficult to identify the fair value. 
(*1) With respect to debt securities, allowance for doubtful accounts based on the estimated uncollectible amount, considering individual 

collectability, is deducted. 
 
(Note 3) Repayment schedule of monetary receivables and securities with contractual maturities is as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 
March 31, 2011 

Due in one year 
or less 

Due after one 
year through 
five years 

Due after five 
years through 
ten years 

Due after ten 
years 

Cash and cash equivalents ¥118,570 ¥  ¥  ¥  
Notes and accounts receivable 46,038    
Marketable and investment securities:     

Held-to-maturity debt securities:     
    Commercial paper 400    
    Debt securities 505  1,000 1,000 
Total ¥165,513 ¥  ¥1,000 ¥1,000 

 
 Thousands of U.S. dollars 

 
March 31, 2011 

Due in one year 
or less 

Due after one 
year through 
five years 

Due after five 
years through 
ten years 

Due after ten 
years 

Cash and cash equivalents $1,428,549 $  $  $  
Notes and accounts receivable 554,675    
Marketable and investment securities:     

Held-to-maturity debt securities:     
    Commercial paper 4,819    
    Debt securities 6,080  12,048 12,048 
Total $1,994,123 $  $12,048 $12,048 
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 Thousands of U.S. dollars 
March 31, 2011 Carrying amount Fair value Difference 
Cash and cash equivalents $1,428,549 $1,428,549  
Notes and accounts receivable 554,675    
  Allowance for doubtful accounts (*1) (405)   
 554,270 554,270  
Marketable and investment securities 160,820 158,664 (2,156) 
Total assets $2,143,639 $2,141,483 (2,156) 
Notes and accounts payable $457,729 $457,729  
Short-term bank loans 100,867 100,867  
Other payables 342,442 342,442  
Income taxes payable 23,533 23,533  
Convertible bonds 971,599 1,017,708 46,109 
Long-term debt 570,533 569,085 (1,448) 
Total liabilities $2,466,703 $2,511,364 44,661 
Derivative transactions (*2)    

Hedge accounting is not applied $192 $192  
Hedge accounting is applied (438) (438)  

Total derivative transactions ($246) ($246)  
(*1) Allowance for doubtful accounts corresponding to notes and accounts receivable is deducted. 
(*2) Receivables and payables arising from derivative transactions are shown in net amount. 
 
(Note 1) Calculation method of the fair value of financial instruments and securities and derivative transactions 
 
 
Asset: 

“Cash and cash equivalents” and "Notes and accounts receivable” 
The carrying amount is presented as the fair value since these balances are routinely settled in the short term, and as such the fair value 

is considered to approximate the carrying value. 
 
“Marketable and investment securities” 
The fair values of equity securities are estimated based on quoted market prices for these instruments, and the fair values of debt 

securities are determined based on the prices obtained from the financial institutions with which they are transacted. 
For further information, please see Note 3 "Marketable and investment securities". 

 
 
Liabilities: 

“Notes and accounts payable”, “Short-term bank loans”, “Other payables” and “Income taxes payable” 
The carrying amount is presented as the fair value since these balances are routinely settled in the short term, and as such the fair value 

is considered to approximate the carrying value. 
 

“Convertible bonds” 
The fair value of bonds issued by the Company is measured at the quoted market price. 

 
“Long-term debt” 
The fair value of long-term debt is based on the present value of the total of principal and interest discounted by the interest rate to be 

applied if similar new loans were entered into. However, the fair value of long-term debt with variable rates is based on the book value, 
since the variable rates are renewed periodically, so the carrying amounts approximate the fair value. 
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b. Derivatives to which hedge accounting is applied: 
 
At March 31, 2011  Millions of yen 

Hedge accounting method Type of derivatives Major hedged 
item 

Contract 
amount 

Contract 
amount due 

after one year Fair value 
Hedged items are translated using the 
forward contract rates 

Foreign exchange 
forward contracts: 
  Buying USD 

Accounts payable ¥168 ¥   ¥(13) 

Normal method Foreign exchange 
forward contracts: 
  Buying Yen 

Accounts payable 118  2 

Normal method Currency option 
contracts: 
  Buying EURO 

Accounts payable 365  (15) 

Normal method Currency option 
contracts: 
  Buying USD 

Accounts payable 325  (10) 

Total   ¥976 ¥   ¥(36)  
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16. DERIVATIVES 
 

The Group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts and 
currency options to hedge foreign exchange risk associated with 
certain assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. 

Most derivative transactions are entered into to hedge foreign 
currency exposures incorporated with its business. Accordingly, 
market risk in these derivatives is basically offset by opposite 
movements in the value of hedged assets or liabilities. The Group 
does not hold or issue derivatives for trading purposes. 

It is also the Group’s policy to use derivatives only for the 

purpose of mitigating market risks associated with investment 
securities. 

Because the counterparties to these derivatives are limited to 
major international financial institutions, the Group does not 
anticipate any losses arising from credit risk. 

Derivative transactions entered into by the Group have been 
made in accordance with internal policies which regulate the 
authorization and credit limit amounts. 

 
Contract amounts, fair values, and gains and losses on derivative transactions were as follows: 

 
a. Derivatives to which hedge accounting is not applied: 
 
 Millions of yen  Thousands of U.S. dollars 
 2011  2011 
  

Contract 
amount 

 
Fair 

value 

 
Unrealized 
gain/loss 

  
Contract 
amount 

 
Fair 

value 

 
Unrealized 

gain 
        
  Foreign exchange forward contracts—        

(Over the counter transactions) 
Buying USD 

 
¥354 

 
¥15 

 
¥15 

  
$4,265 

 
$179 

 
$179 

(Over the counter transactions) 
Buying EURO 

 
1,198 

 
2 

 
2 

  
14,431 

 
25 

 
25 

(Exchange-traded) 
Buying USD 

 
71 

 
0 

 
0 

  
854 

 
5 

 
5 

(Exchange-traded) 
Selling USD 

 
500 

 
(1) 

 
(1) 

  
6,029 

 
(18) 

 
(18) 

(Exchange-traded) 
Selling Yen 

 
3 

 
0 

 
0 

  
31 

 
1 

 
1 

Total ¥2,126 ¥16 ¥16  $25,610 $192 $192 
 
 Millions of yen 
 2010 
  

Contract 
amount 

 
Fair 

value 

 
Unrealized 
gain/loss 

    
  Foreign exchange forward contracts—    

Buying USD ¥263 ¥(8) ¥(8) 
The fair value is determined based on the prices presented from the financial institutions with which derivatives are transacted. 
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Other comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2010 consisted of the following: 
 Millions of yen 
Other comprehensive income: 

Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities, 
net of tax 

 
¥1,115 

Net losses on deferred hedges, net of tax 80 
Foreign currency translation adjustments 1,541 

Total other comprehensive income ¥2,736 
 
 
 
19. PER SHARE INFORMATION 
 
a. Basis for the computation of net asset per share at March 31, 2011 and 2010 was as follows: 
 
  

Millions of yen 
Thousands of 

shares 
 

Yen 
 

U.S. dollars 
At March31, 2011  

Net asset 
Number of shares 
of common stock 

 
Asset per share 

Net asset  ¥219,633 206,945   
Stock acquisition rights 
Minority interests 
Number of treasury stock 
Net asset attributable to common stock 

289 
17,409 

- 
201,935 

- 
- 

20,522 
186,423 

 
 
 

¥1,083 

 
 
 

$13.05 
 
 

    

  
Millions of yen 

Thousands of 
shares 

 
Yen 

At March31, 2010  
Net asset 

Number of shares 
of common stock 

 
Asset per share 

Net asset  ¥207,413 68,982  
Minority interests 
Number of treasury stock 
Net asset attributable to common stock 

23,524 
- 

183,889 

- 
6,053 

62,929 

 
 

¥2,922 
 
 
b. A reconciliation of the differences between basic and diluted net income per share (“EPS”) for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 

2010 was as follows: 
 
 

Millions of yen 
 Thousands 

of shares  Yen  U.S. dollars 

Year Ended March 31, 2011 Net income 
 Weighted-average 

shares   EPS  
Basic EPS—Net income available to common shareholders ¥33,560  188,422  ¥178.11  $2.15 
Effect of dilutive securities—Adjustment of warrants of company (17)  10,734     
Diluted EPS—Net income for computation ¥33,543  199,156  ¥168.42  $2.03 
 
 

Millions of yen 
 Thousands 

of shares  Yen 

Year Ended March 31, 2010 Net income 
 Weighted-average 

shares  EPS 
Basic EPS—Net income available to common shareholders ¥24,464  63,430  ¥385.69 
Effect of dilutive securities—Adjustment of warrants of company (0)  4   
Diluted EPS—Net income for computation ¥24,464  63,434  ¥385.66 
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At March 31, 2010  Millions of yen 

Hedge accounting method Type of derivatives Major hedged 
item 

Contract 
amount 

Contract 
amount due 

after one year Fair value 
Hedged items are translated using the 
forward contract rates 

Foreign exchange 
forward contracts: 
  Buying USD 

Accounts payable ¥2,168 ¥   ¥19 

Normal method Currency option 
contracts: 
  Buying USD 

Accounts payable 421  10 

Normal method Currency option 
contracts: 
  Buying EURO 

Accounts payable 1,570  5 

Total   ¥4,159 ¥   ¥34 
 
At March 31, 2011  Thousands of U.S. dollars 

Hedge accounting method Type of derivatives Major hedged 
item 

Contract 
amount 

Contract 
amount due 

after one year Fair value 
Hedged items are translated using the 
forward contract rates 

Forward exchange 
forward contracts: 
  Buying USD 

Accounts payable $2,028 $   $(163) 

Normal method Foreign exchange 
forward contracts: 
  Buying Yen  

Accounts payable 1,421  29 

Normal method Currency option 
contracts: 
  Buying EURO 

Accounts payable 4,403  (185) 

Normal method Currency option 
contracts: 
  Buying USD 

Accounts payable 3,912  (119) 

Total   $11,764 $   $(438) 
The fair value is determined based on the prices presented from the financial institutions with which derivatives are transacted.   
 
 
 
17. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 

At March 31, 2011, the Group had the following contingent liabilities: 
 

 Millions of yen 
 Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
Guarantees and similar items of bank loans ¥9  $112 
 
 
 
18. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
For the year ended March 31, 2010 
 

Total comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2010 was the following: 
 Millions of yen 
Total comprehensive income attributable to: 

Shareholders of the Company 
 

¥26,843 
Minority interests 5,930 

Total comprehensive income ¥32,773 
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c. Agreement of share acquisition of Diana Joint Stock Company 
The Company entered into the agreement on August 25, 2011, that Uni-Charm Thailand Co,. Ltd., subsidiary of the Company, would 
acquire 95% shares of common stock of Diana Joint Stock Company (hereinafter referred as “Diana”) which is one of the leaders in 
hygiene product manufacturing and distribution in Vietnam. 

1. Purpose of share acquisition 
Diana is one of the leaders in hygiene product manufacturing and distribution in Vietnam, with a strong portfolio of brands as well as a 
solid distribution network across the country, including distribution to traditional general trades. Its core brands – Diana” of feminine 
care products and “Bobby” of baby diapers – both hold the 2nd largest market share in Vietnam and are highly recognized. Unicharm 
decided to acquire Diana with the aim of realizing synergies through product enhancement, product line-up reinforcement and 
implementation of a lean production system. 
Through the combination of Diana’s expertise in marketing and distribution and Unicharm’s capabilities in product development and 
manufacturing, Unicharm aims to accelerate its business in Vietnam, where the hygiene product markets will grow rapidly in parallel 
with economic and population growth. 

 
2. Overview of stock purchase agreement 
Uni-Charm (Thailand) Co., Ltd.,subsidiary of the Company to acquire 34,200,000 common shares (95% shares of common stock) of 
Diana. 

 
3. Details of Diana(as of December 2010) 

(1) Company name:   Diana Joint Stock Company 
(2) Address:   Vinh Tuy Industrial Zone, Linh Nam Street, Hanoi, Vietnam 
(3) Name of the representative: Do Minh Phu (Chairman), Do Anh Tu (CEO) 
(4) Business description:  Manufacturing and Distribution of feminine hygiene products, baby diapers, adult diapers, 

tissue, etc. 
(5) Common stock:   VND 360 Bn (as of the end of December 2010) 
(6) Net asset:    VND 380 Bn (as of the end of December 2010) 
(7) Gross asset:    VND 1,425 Bn (as of the end of December 2010) 
(8) Investment shares:   Do Family:82.0% 

Goldman Sachs:12.6% 
Thien Viet Securities JSC:5.4% 

 
4. Overview of share acquisition 

(1)Number of shares the Company has before acquisition: 
0 shares (holding ratio: 0.0%)  

(2) Number of shares the Company would acquire: 
34,200,000 shares (95.0% of the total common stock) 

(3) Price of share: 
Not yet fixed. 

 (4) Number of shares the Company has after acquisition: 
34,200,000 shares 

(5) Finance source: 
Not yet determined. 

 
5. Schedule 

(1) Agreement date of share acquisition:  August 25, 2011 
(2) Closing date of the transaction (plan):  November 2011 (plan) 
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20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
a. Appropriations of Retained Earnings 
 

The following appropriations of retained earnings at March 31, 2011 were approved at the Board of Directors of the Company meeting 
held on May 30, 2011: 
 

 Millions of yen 
 Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
Year-end cash dividends, ¥14 ($0.17) per share ¥2,610  $31,445 
 
 

b. Agreement of share acquisition of The Hartz Mountain Corporation 
The Company entered into the agreement with Sumitomo Corporation and Sumitomo Corporation of America (hereinafter collectively 
referred to as “Sumitomo Corporation”) on August 12, 2011, that the Company would acquire 51% shares of The Hartz Mountain 
Corporation (“Hartz”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Sumitomo Corporation, for the purpose of strategic tie-up for the joint pet-care 
business in the U.S. whose concept has already agreed upon by a Letter of Intent signed by the Company and Sumitomo Corporation on 
May 17, 2011. 

1. Purpose of share acquisition 
Unicharm and Sumitomo Corporation reached a strategic agreement on the launch of a joint pet-care business in the U.S., by integrating 
the advantages of Unicharm such as pet-care related technical capabilities, product development and manufacturing capabilities, etc. 
and the operating base of Hartz such as marketing knowhow and marketing capabilities in the U.S., etc. 
 
2. Seller: Sumitomo Corporation 
 
3. Details of Hartz(as of March 2011) 

(1) Company name:   The Hartz Mountain Corporation 
(2) Address:   400 Plaza Drive, Secaucus, New Jersey, U.S.A. 
(3) Name of the representative: Robert Shipley (CEO and President) 
(4) Business description:   Manufacturing and Distribution of Pet Care Products 
(5) Common stock:   US$270,000,000 (as of the end of March 2011) 
(6) Net asset:    US$206,040,000 (as of the end of March 2011) 
(7) Gross asset:    US$355,050,000 (as of the end of March 2011) 
(8) Investment shares:                 Sumitomo Corporation of America:59.4%                      

Sumitomo Corporation:40.6% 
 

4. Overview of share acquisition 
(1) Number of shares the Company has before acquisition: 

0 shares (holding ratio: 0.0%) 
(2) Number of shares the Company would acquire: 

9,693,400 shares (51% of the total common stock) 
(3) Price of share: 

Not yet fixed. 
(4) Number of shares the Company has after acquisition: 

9,693,400 shares 
(5) Treasury resources: 

Not yet determined. 
 

5. Schedule  
(1) Agreement date of Letter of Intent:   May 17, 2011 
(2) Agreement date of share acquisition:  August 12, 2011 
(3) Closing date of the transaction (plan):  October 3, 2011 
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22. BUSINESS COMBINATION 
 
For the year ended March 31, 2011 
 
Merger of Unicharm PetCare Corporation 
(1) Overview of business combination 
The Company resolved at the meeting of its Board of Directors held on April 30, 2010, to merge Unicharm PetCare Corporation 
(“Unicharm PetCare”) through tender offer (“The Tender Offer”) into the Company. In addition, the merger was approved at the 50th 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting Unicharm held on June 24, 2010. Based on the resolution, the Company successfully completed The 
Tender Offer in compliance with the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law for the period from May 6, 2010 to June 16, 2010. The 
Company, as the merging company, executed the merger of had been executed the merger agreement at a meeting of its Board of 
Directors held on April 30, 2010. 
The Company, as the surviving company, completed the merger of Unicharm PetCare, as the merged company, effective September 1, 
2010. 
 

I. Purpose of the merger  
The Company aimed to be more strongly positioned in the domestic market and to enhance the prospective overseas business of both 
companies by enhancing managerial flexibility, optimizing managerial resources including human resources of both companies, 
expanding the business through cooperative strategic investments, and achieving a more rapid synergy effect. In order to achieve these 
goals, the Company reached the conclusion that both Companies should operate their businesses as one entity. 

 
II. Summary information of the merger 

1) Schedule 
Effective date of the merger: September 1, 2010 
Payment date of the consideration for the merger: October 29, 2010 

2) Scheme 
The merger was executed by absorption method. Unicharm PetCare was dissolved effective September 1, 2010. 

3) Consideration 
The Company paid in cash ¥3,825 ($46) per share (a total of ¥2,848 million for 744,651 shares) to the shareholders of Unicharm 
PetCare registered or recorded in the final list of shareholders (excluding both companies) just before the merger was effective. 
Since the merger consideration consists of cash, the Company neither issued new shares nor allocated treasury stock. 

4) Description of the merged company (as of March 31, 2010) 
Name:    Unicharm PetCare Corporation 
Location:    3-5-27, Mita, Minato-ku, Tokyo 
Representative:    President & CEO Gumpei Futagami 
Business:   Production and sales of pet food and pet toiletry products 
Common stock:   ¥2,371 million ($28,572 thousand) 
Founded:    October 6, 1979 
Number of the shares issued: 29,360,000 
Fiscal year end date:   March 31 

 
(2) Accounting treatment 
The merger was accounted for transaction under common control in accordance with ASBJ Statement No.21 “Accounting Standard for 
Business Combinations” issued on December 26, 2008 and ASBJ Guidance No.10 “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Business 
Combinations and Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” issued on December 26, 2008. 
The goodwill derived from The Tender Offer is ¥51,675 million ($622,588 thousand). 
The goodwill derived from the merger is ¥3,841 million ($46,280 thousand). 
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21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
(1) Transactions of the Company with related parties for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 
 
a. Takahara Kosan K.K. 

Takahara Kosan K.K. is directly owned 20.0% share by Mr. Takahisa Takahara, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, 
1.0% by Mr. Keiichiro Takahara, Chairman of the Board of the Company, 44.5% directly owned by their close relatives, and another 
34.5% indirectly owned by their close relatives. 
 
 

Millions of yen 
 Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
 2011 2010  2011 
Insurance premium ¥40 ¥25  $481 
 
b. Unitec Corporation 

Unitec Corporation is directly owned 0.7% share by Mr. Takahisa Takahara, 1.5% by Mr. Keiichiro Takahara’s close relatives, and 
another 97.8% indirectly owned by Mr. Keiichiro Takahara’s close relatives. 
 
 

Millions of yen 
 Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
 2011 2010  2011 
Rental expenses ¥11 ¥13  $135 
 
 
(2) Transactions of the consolidated subsidiaries of the Company with related parties for the year ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 were 

as follows: 
 
a. Takahara Kosan K.K. 
 

Millions of yen 
 Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
 2011  2011 
Insurance premium ¥69  $836 
    
 
b. Unitec Corporation 
 

Millions of yen 
 Thousands of 

U.S. dollars 
 2011 2010  2011 
Rental expenses ¥50 ¥119  $597 
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23. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
For the year ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
1. Overview of reportable segments 

The Group’s reportable segments are components for which separate financial information is available, and whose operating results are 
reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors in order to determine allocation of management resources and assess segment performance. 
 

The Group’s reportable segments consist of Personal care business, Pet care business, and Other businesses. Each business segment 
operates its own business with the comprehensive strategies including Japan and overseas business by segments. 
 

Therefore, the Personal care business, the Pet care business and Other businesses constitute the Company’s reportable segments. 
 

The Personal care business manufactures and sells baby care products, feminine care products,health care products and clean-and-fresh 
products. The Pet care business manufactures and sells pet food products and pet toiletry products. The Other businesses manufacture and 
sell industrial materials. 

 
2. Methods of measurement for the amounts of sales, profit (loss), assets, and other items for each reportable segment 
	
 

The accounting policies for the reportable segments are basically the same as policies described in “Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies”. Intersegment sales and transfer prices are mainly based on current market price.	
 
 
3. Information about sales, profit (loss), assets, liabilities and other items is as follows. 
 
 Millions of yen 
 2011 
 Reportable segment   
  

Personal care 
 

Pet care 
 

Others 
 

Total 
Eliminations or 

Corporate 
 

Consolidated 
Sales to customers ¥321,814 ¥47,767 ¥7,367 ¥376,948 ¥- ¥376,948 
Intersegment sales - - 22 22 (22) - 

Total sales 321,814 47,767 7,389 376,970 (22) 376,948 
Segment profit (Operating profit) 40,124 6,139 275 46,538 23 46,561 
Segment assets 275,169 66,837 23,967 365,973 78,043 444,016 
Other:       

Depreciation 13,742 656 222 14,620 - 14,620 
 Amortization of goodwill 700 2,050 10 2,760 - 2,760 
 Increase in tangible fixed assets and 

intangible fixed assets 
¥26,487 ¥56,084 ¥85 ¥82,656 ¥- ¥82,656 

 
 Millions of yen 
 2010 
 Reportable segment   
  

Personal care 
 

Pet care 
 

Others 
 

Total 
Eliminations or 

Corporate 
 

Consolidated 
Sales to customers ¥303,351 ¥46,781 ¥6,693 ¥356,825 ¥- ¥356,825 
Intersegment sales - - 23 23 (23) - 

Total sales 303,351 46,781 6,716 356,848 (23) 356,825 
Segment profit (Operating profit) 36,180 8,477 365 45,022 44 45,066 
Segment assets 207,747 31,841 23,429 263,017 44,756 307,773 
Other:       

Depreciation 14,988 499 181 15,668 - 15,668 
 Amortization of goodwill 725 - - 725 - 725 
 Increase in tangible fixed assets and 

intangible fixed assets 
¥23,155 ¥1,266 ¥329 ¥24,750 ¥- ¥24,750 
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 Thousands of U.S. Dollars 
 2011 
 Reportable segment   
  

Personal care 
 

Pet care 
 

Others 
 

Total 
Eliminations or 

Corporate 
 

Consolidated 
Sales to customers $3,877,278 $575,508 $88,754 $4,541,540 $- $4,541,540 
Intersegment sales - - 267 267 (267) - 

Total sales 3,877,278 575,508 89,021 4,541,807 (267) 4,541,540 
Segment profit (Operating profit) 483,418 73,964 3,317 560,699 282 560,981 
Segment assets 3,315,290 805,269 288,756 4,409,315 940,270 5,349,585 
Other:       

Depreciation 165,560 7,907 2,680 176,147 - 176,147 
 Amortization of goodwill 8,437 24,697 123 33,257 - 33,257 
 Increase in tangible fixed assets and 

intangible fixed assets 
$319,126 $675,706 $1,019 $995,851 $- $995,851 

 
 
(Additional information) 

Effective for the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company has applied the “Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Segments of an 
Enterprise and Related information” (ASBJ Statement No. 17, March 27, 2009) and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Disclosures 
about Segments of an Enterprise and Related information” (ASBJ Guidance No. 20, March 21, 2008). 
 
(Related Information) 
1. Information on products and services 

Information on products and services is omitted since the similar information is disclosed in above segment information. 
 

2. Geographical Information 
(1) Sales 

Millions of yen 
2011 

Japan China Others Total 
¥217,299 ¥44,741 ¥114,908 ¥376,948 

 
Thousands of U.S. dollars 

2011 
Japan China Others Total 

$2,618,063 $539,048 $1,384,429 $4,541,540 
   (Note) Sales represents sales to external customers. 
 
(2) Tangible fixed assets 

Millions of yen 
2011 

Japan China Others Total 
¥40,008 ¥18,764 ¥39,618 ¥98,390 

 
Thousands of U.S. dollars 

2011 
Japan China Others Total 

$482,021 $226,070 $477,330 $1,185,421 
 
3. Information about major customers 

Information about major customers is omitted, since there is no particular customer to whom sales exceeds 10% of the total sales 
recorded in the consolidated statements of income. 
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For the year ended March 31, 2010 
Information about industry segments, geographic segments and sales to foreign customers of the Group was as follows: 

 
(1) Industry segments 

a. Sales and operating income 
 
 Millions of yen 
 2010 
  

Personal care 
 

Pet care 
 

Others 
Eliminations or 

Corporate 
 

Consolidated 
Sales to customers ¥299,334 ¥46,781 ¥10,710 ¥ - ¥356,825 
Intersegment sales 1 - 4 (5) - 

Total sales 299,335 46,781 10,714 (5) 356,825 
Operating expenses 263,876 38,304 9,628 (49) 311,759 
Operating income ¥ 35,459 ¥ 8,477 ¥   1,086 ¥44 ¥ 45,066 
 

b. Assets, depreciation, impairment loss and capital expenditures 
 
 Millions of yen 
 2010 
 Personal care Pet care Others Corporate Consolidated 
Assets ¥205,152 ¥31,840 ¥25,622 ¥45,159 ¥307,773 
Depreciation 15,628 499 266 - 16,393 
Capital expenditures 23,079 1,266 405 - 24,750 
 
(2) Geographic segments 

a. Sales and operating income 
 
 Millions of yen 
 2010 
 

Japan 
Asia 

(Excluding 
Japan) 

Europe and 
the Middle East 

Eliminations or 
Corporate Consolidated 

Sales to customers ¥220,674 ¥96,041 ¥40,110 ¥ - ¥356,825 
Intersegment sales 14,362 2,073 - (16,435) - 

Total sales 235,036 98,114 40,110 (16,435) 356,825 
Operating expenses 205,722 84,628 37,728 (16,319) 311,759 
Operating income ¥ 29,314 ¥ 13,486 ¥ 2,382 ¥ (116) ¥ 45,066 
 

b. Assets 
 
 Millions of yen 
 2010 
 

Japan 
Asia 

(Excluding 
Japan) 

Europe and 
the Middle East Corporate Consolidated 

Assets ¥170,764 ¥95,690 ¥33,506 ¥7,813 ¥307,773 
 
(3) Sales to foreign customers 

Sales to foreign customers for the year ended March 31, 2010 amounted to ¥137,506 million. 
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Investor Information/Corporate Data
As of March 31, 2011

Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies
As of March 31, 2011

Company Location Major Operations Percentage  
of Equity (%)

Unicharm Product Co., Ltd. Japan Production of baby care, feminine care, 
and other products

100.0 

Unicharm Kokko Nonwoven  
Co., Ltd.

Japan Production, processing and sales of 
paper, nonwoven and other materials

100.0 

Cosmotec Corporation Japan Printing, processing and sales of 
photographic printing plates

100.0 

Unicharm Mölnlycke K.K. Japan Sales of adult incontinence care 
products

51.0 

United Charm Co., Ltd. China Production and sales of baby care, 
feminine care and other products

52.6 

Uni-Charm (Thailand) Co., Ltd. Thailand Production and sales of baby care, 
feminine care and other products

94.2 

Unicharm Consumer Products  
(China) Co., Ltd.

China Production and sales of baby care, 
feminine care and other products

80.0

LG Unicharm Co., Ltd. South of Korea Production and sales of baby care, 
feminine care and other products

51.0 

PT Uni-Charm Indonesia Indonesia Production and sales of baby care, 
feminine care and other products

74.0 

Uni.Charm Mölnlycke B.V. The Netherlands Production control of baby care and 
adult incontinence care products

60.0 

Unicharm Gulf Hygienic  
Industries Ltd.

Saudi Arabia Production and sales of baby care, 
feminine care and other products

51.0 

Unicharm India Private Ltd. India Production and sales of baby care 
products

100.0 

Unicharm Australasia Pty Ltd Australia Production and sales of baby care, adult 
incontinence care and other products

100.0 

(Other 18 companies)

Company Location Major Operations Percentage  
of Equity (%)

The Fun Co., Ltd. Japan Contracted development of  
IT systems

25.0 

(One other company)

 Investor Information Subsidiaries

 Corporate Data

 Affiliated Companies

Fiscal Year-end	 March 31, 2011
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting	 June 24, 2011
Common Stock	 Authorized: 827,779,092
		  Issued: 206,944,773
Number of Shareholders	 20,027
Date of Listing	 August 1976
Stock Exchange Listing 	 First Section, Tokyo Stock Exchange
Transfer Agent 	 Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and Banking Corporation
		  7-10-11, Higashisuna, Koto-ku, Tokyo 137-8081, Japan
Auditor	 PricewaterhouseCoopers Arata
Principal Shareholders

Registered Office of the Company	 182 Shimobun Kinsei-cho, Shikokuchuo-city, 
	 Ehime 799-0111, Japan
Head Office	 Sumitomo Fudosan Mita Twin Bldg. West Wing, 
	 3-5-27, Mita, Minato-ku, Tokyo 108-8575, Japan
Date of Establishment	 February 10, 1961
Paid-in Capital	 ¥15,993 million
Number of Associates	 1,221 (7,317 on a consolidated basis)
Information	 Accounting and Finance Office
	 Sumitomo Fudosan Mita Twin Bldg. West Wing, 
	 3-5-27, Mita, Minato-ku, Tokyo 108-8575, Japan
	 Tel	 :	+81-3-6722-1035
	 Fax	:	+81-3-6722-1034

Shareholder Number of  
Shares 

 (Thousands)

Ratio of Number of 
Shares Held to 

Number  
of Shares Issued  

and Outstanding (%)

Unitec Corporation 37,105 19.90
Takahara Kosan K.K. 10,256 5.50
Takahara Kikin 9,360 5.02
Nippon Life Insurance Company 5,804 3.11
The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd.  
(Trust Account of Retirement Benefit Trust Account/
Hiroshima Bank Account)

5,762 3.09

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) 5,499 2.95
The Iyo Bank, Ltd. 5,099 2.74
Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account) 5,082 2.73
Goldman Sacks and Company Regular Account 4,441 2.38
Takahara Sangyou K.K. 3,690 1.98
Notes:	1.	Number of shares is rounded down to the nearest thousand shares.
	 2.	Ratio of number of shares held was calculated by deducting shares of treasury stock 
		  (20,521,968 shares).

ClickFor more details about stock information, please click here.

ClickFor more details about company profile, please click here.

http://www.unicharm.co.jp/english/ir/stock/index.html
http://www.unicharm.co.jp/english/about/overview/index.html
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